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Business of Joint Committee

Chairman: I suggest we go straight into public session because nothing can be lost in trans-
lation, and we will continue in public session unless the necessity arises to go into private ses-
sion for any particular reason.  The draft minutes of the meetings of 22 and 23 November have 
been circulated.  Are they agreed?  Agreed.  Are there any matters arising?  No.

We have received six items of correspondence, all of which are noted.  As the correspon-
dence from Both Lives Matter only arrived this morning, we will come back to it next week 
as it contains the methodology used to back up its claim of lives saved by the unavailability of 
abortion in the North of Ireland.  The follow-up from Leah Hoctor about the calculation of ges-
tation limits can be considered in the context of our report.  The other items of correspondence 
are listed.

Today we will conclude module 2 and we will finish our public meetings on module 3 to-
morrow evening.  We must now start to complete the decision-making process that will allow 
us to report to the Oireachtas by 20 December, which is the three-month deadline imposed on us 
by the Houses of the Oireachtas.  I suggest, therefore, that we commence the process next week 
as to when we can make decisions on modules 1 and 2, and the following week, on Wednesday, 
13 December, we will consider the draft report which arises from the decisions made by the 
committee.  I think it unavoidable and necessary that we start the process next week, and early 
in the week if we have to, as otherwise we will be under pressure to meet the deadline and no-
body wants that coming up to Christmas.  I have asked the secretariat to prepare a roadmap for 
modules 1 and 2.  The one for module 1 was circulated some weeks ago.  We can circulate that 
today and then discuss it at the commencement of our public business tomorrow.  I just wanted 
to give people a bit of notice of that in advance.

The clerk will have a briefing note highlighting the main issues we discussed with our ex-
perts in respect of each of the 13 reasons recommended by the Citizens’ Assembly.  That note 
should assist members and it should be circulated by Friday lunchtime.  We will park that issue 
for now if that is okay.  Senator Buttimer has indicated.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I thank the Cathaoirleach for her comments.  I also ask her to 
indicate what she means by next week in terms of the process involved.  As I mentioned to her, 
to the clerk and to other members, I will be away next week speaking at an LGBT conference 
in the USA.  Could I suggest that we defer any votes until the week after?   I apologise but this 
is longstanding commitment.  I hope that the committee might facilitate my request to have the 
votes, if any, taken in a block on Tuesday or Wednesday of the following week.  I appreciate 
from where the Cathaoirleach is coming on this but, to be fair to me, as a member, we were 
never given a deadline or a date for votes.  I understand that we have a pressing need to get 
things done by 20 December but I hope that we could defer the vote.  I do not think that I am the 
only person who will be missing next week either.  I would appreciate it if I could be facilitated.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I have a separate question on the method of voting.  Was it originally 
agreed that a vote would be taken at the end of each module?  I am not challenging this, it is just 
that I want to understand the process.

Chairman: My understanding of what was agreed, and I ask that someone correct me if 
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they think me inaccurate on this, is that as we went along we, as a committee, would decide 
when it suited us to vote.   A modular approach could obviously have been open to votes after 
each module, but my understanding is that that was to be agreed as we went along.  Deputy Bríd 
Smith was not on the committee at the time so I understand why she is asking the question.  My 
understanding is that this matter is really up to the committee.  We made the decision to vote 
but left it open to movement, depending on circumstances.  There was some concession on the 
last vote, for example, but I do not need to go into that because Deputy Bríd Smith watched it 
and she knows what I mean.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: If there are members who cannot be here to vote next week, would 
it not be better to vote on the substantive question, namely, whether to have a referendum to 
repeal the eighth amendment, before next week?

Chairman: That is one option.  I will just go to the others who have indicated.  Has the 
Deputy finished speaking?

Deputy  Bríd Smith: Yes.  I am proposing that option.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: We finish module 2 today and will finish module 3 tomorrow.  
I understand that a number of members, not just Senator Buttimer, will be unavailable next 
week due to longstanding commitments.  In order to be fair to every member of the commit-
tee, we should try to have full attendance before any votes are taken.  I am not suggesting this 
to facilitate anyone in particular.  At this stage, I have more than two folders of information 
relating to module 2 so I think that it would be prudent that we have an opportunity next week 
to debate this information.  We need to look at every recommendation from the Citizens’ As-
sembly.  We also need to examine the information we have received and tie it up with those 
recommendations.  It will probably take two or possibly three days next week to digest all of 
this information and establish what exactly it means for each particular recommendation.  If we 
could do this next week, that would clear the way for having a series of votes on Tuesday week 
so as to finalise what the committee is recommending.  We will then be looking at a draft report 
immediately after that.  From my point of view, I would certainly like some conversation next 
week regarding the information we have received and how it affects the recommendations, one 
way or the other.

Deputy  Lisa Chambers: Deputy Bríd Smith proposed voting before next week but that 
would mean doing so tomorrow.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I propose voting on just one issue, namely, whether to hold a refer-
endum on repeal.

Deputy  Lisa Chambers: I have the floor. Voting tomorrow would not give us enough time 
to go over all of our material and consider the issues properly.  Given the seriousness of what 
we are voting on, I would certainly be in favour of having as full an attendance as possible for 
any vote.  I support Deputy O’Brien in taking next week to discuss everything we have learned 
further and then to prepare for voting the week after.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: What we do on module 1 will, or potentially could, determine 
the shape of module 2.  It is not ideal that we push this because we could then use a lot of time 
inappropriately next week.  That is a concern for me.  Having said that, I acknowledge that we 
should be aspiring to full attendance when we make decisions.

Chairman: I will just interject to say that because Wednesday is our day to meet, we should 
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stick to it as the voting day.  Having a vote on Tuesday or Thursday would be unfair to mem-
bers who are making any plans.  As a rule, we should try to have voting on the Wednesday.  I 
apologise to Deputy Catherine Murphy for cutting across her.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: My other point concerns what the report and the methodol-
ogy for the report will look like.  The Chairman has talked about a roadmap but we might have 
to put some work into what such a roadmap would look like.

Chairman: The Deputy is absolutely right.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: We could end up with quite a short, effective report.

Chairman: That is the point.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: We are not trying to write the legislation here.  We may focus 
on big themes rather than very detailed specifics.  We need to have an idea of what we are going 
into here because we could then use our time much more effectively.  I would like to hear the 
committee’s thinking as to the kind of report we will produce.

Chairman: I do not think that we would be doing our job well if we produced volumes of 
a report to give to the Oireachtas.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: Yes.

Chairman: I do not think that would be a very professional thing to do and, as far as I am 
concerned, it would not make any sense.  That is, however, a decision for the committee.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: I suppose somebody should say that it is good that we are all back 
here and that we did not have to terminate our activities.  I think all of us around the table feel 
that.   I support what has been said about having as full an attendance as possible and, prefer-
ably, a full attendance for votes because that is a basic principle for reaching consensus.  I un-
derstand Deputy Bríd Smith’s suggestion that we vote this week and I think that there is some 
logic to it.  I have a concern about voting tomorrow, however, because we have also moved the 
time from 2 p.m. to 3 p.m.   Some of us would certainly have a difficulty with being here right 
until the end of the meeting tomorrow.

Chairman: The reason for that change is that voting in the Dail tomorrow will be later than 
usual.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: I understand the reason but I, for example, have a selection con-
vention tomorrow night which was organised when we thought that we might have to rush 
matters.  Others will have also have reasons why they cannot suddenly change something that 
was an hour later than-----

Chairman: I think there is a consensus on that.  Deputy Jan O’Sullivan is reiterating the 
point I made earlier that Wednesday afternoon is the time for us to be voting.  I do not know if 
there is any disagreement on that.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: Can I have some clarity on the roadmap?  Are we getting a road-
map tomorrow?

Chairman: Yes.  As I mentioned, the roadmap will outline the process.  We touched on this 
after module 1 so we will be expanding on that.  I would like to hold off on the conversation on 
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that because we obviously still have witnesses to come in today.  We can chat about the road-
map tomorrow.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: When the Citizens’ Assembly was sitting, it left all of its votes 
to the very end and I suggest that we do the same.  We have already had a vote and there was 
a lot of controversy about it.  The Citizens’ Assembly is the main reason we are here so I think 
we should have all of the votes at the very end.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: I agree with that and I think it is also in line with Deputy 
O’Brien’s proposal that we vote the week after next so that we can spend time next week dis-
cussing the totality of what we have learned recently.  I also agree that our report should be short 
and to the point and should provide a clear indication of what the committee is recommending 
to Government without getting into nitty-gritty detail.  That is for the Government to do.

Chairman: Thank you Deputy.  I call on Deputy McGrath.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I too think all the voting should be held at the end.  I think the 
vote well ahead of time sent a bad signal.  I also disagree with the meetings being held at 3 p.m. 
on a Thursday because some of us from the country try to get out of the city ahead of traffic.

Chairman: We are all agreed on that Deputy.  Is that all you want to say?

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: At the moment, yes.

Chairman: I call on Deputy O’Brien.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: I want to clarify what I was suggesting.  We still have to make 
a decision on module 1.  We did take one vote which was not to retain it in full.  However, we 
were given six possible options and I would like an opportunity next week to discuss those op-
tions and then discuss the options and modules.

Chairman: Absolutely, is the Deputy finished?

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: What I suggest is that the votes would take place on Wednes-
day, 13 December.

Chairman: Okay, then the important point is that we need some legal advice as well.  Our 
legal advisers will need to brief us.  We will arrange that for next Wednesday.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: In general, I would agree on that.  Having sat for so long and 
so often trying to assimilate all the information that has been put before us I think we should 
complete everything, have a review of what exactly has come to our attention and then decide 
on what we are going to do next.  The voting comes at the very end.

Chairman: My only concern, and the secretariat’s, is that we would have enough time and 
that there would not be any difficulties in the last week that would push us into being here half 
the night under pressure.  However, as long as we agree that we are going to have a reasonably 
short comprehensive report, there is a consensus.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: We have to be careful.  If we are serious about the business 
that we are doing we have to remain serious right to the very end.  We have to give it the time 
and energy that is necessary.  We have to be realistic in what we have been doing and give the 
public some indication as to how they are going to come to a judgment, which is what is going 
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to happen in any event when we have finished.

Chairman: Thank you Deputy Durkan, I agree with you.  I call on Deputy Smith.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: To clarify, and this is as much for people watching and those in the 
Gallery as it is for myself.  What we are saying now is that we would not be voting until 13 
December, then the report would be drafted and we would sign off on it on 20 December.  Is that 
the case?  That is pushing it right to the very limit.  If we take the votes on 13 December, then 
we cannot complete the report until after that.  Obviously, the report depends on the outcome 
of how we vote.

Chairman: We can complete it by the Thursday I am sure.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: By 14 December possibly.  Can I just be clear that I agree with a short 
succinct but comprehensive report that will include all of the recommendations of the Citizens’ 
Assembly, and that there will be votes on all of that and nothing will be left out.

Chairman: Yes, we will have to vote.  We will be pre-emptive if we get into a discussion on 
that now because we have parked that until tomorrow.  We will be circulating a document that 
will structure that.  If it is okay, we will come back to that tomorrow.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: Okay, that is fine.

Chairman: It has to cover the Citizens’ Assembly’s points.  That has to be categorically 
clear.  The report has to be read in conjunction with the debates.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: The report will be ready by 14 December then after we vote on 13 
December.  I know we are going to discuss that tomorrow.

Chairman: We will have to see how we go.  However, the debates are part of the report.  
Realistically, we have to turn it around as quickly as we can within the confines.  We have to 
accommodate colleagues as well as hear from all the witnesses and do our work as comprehen-
sively as we can.  Is everyone agreed on the approach?  Agreed.

  Sitting suspended at 1.54 p.m. and resumed at 1.56 p.m.

Termination in Cases of Foetal Abnormality: Mr. Peter Thompson, Birmingham Wom-
en’s and Children’s Hospital

Chairman: I welcome members and also viewers who may be watching the proceedings 
- I did not welcome them earlier on - to the Joint Committee on the Eighth Amendment of the 
Constitution.  We will be holding two separate sessions this afternoon and we will first hear a 
presentation on termination in cases of foetal abnormality from a consultant in maternal foetal 
medicine.  Our second session will be with officials from both the Department of Education and 
Skills and the Department of Children and Youth Affairs to consider the ancillary recommenda-
tions of the Citizens’ Assembly.

Before I introduce our first witness today, at the request of the broadcasting and recording 
services and at the risk of serious repetition, members and visitors in the Public Gallery are re-
quested to ensure that for the duration of this meeting their mobiles are fully off.  We have seen 
that they interfere with the footage.  Please be accommodating with that.



29 NOVEMBER 2017

7

I extend on behalf of the committee a warm welcome to our first witness to present to us at 
this afternoon’s meeting, Mr. Peter Thompson, consultant in maternal foetal medicine, at Bir-
mingham Women’s and Children’s Hospital, who will address the issue of termination in the 
case of foetal abnormality.  You are very welcome to this meeting this afternoon and thank you 
for travelling over to be here.  

Before we commence formal proceedings I must begin with some formalities and advise 
our witness on the matter of privilege.  I will go through this quickly.  I wish to advise the wit-
nesses that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, witnesses are protected by 
absolute privilege in respect of their evidence to this committee.  However, if you are directed 
by the committee to cease giving evidence in relation to a particular matter and you continue to 
so do, you are entitled thereafter only to a qualified privilege in respect of your evidence.  You 
are directed that only evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be 
given and you are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, 
you should not criticise or make charges against any person, persons or entity by name or in 
such a way as to make him or her identifiable.  

Members are reminded of the long-standing ruling of the Chair to the effect that they should 
not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the House or an official 
either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I now call on Mr. Thompson to make his presentation.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I thank the committee for inviting me today and allowing me to con-
tribute to this pivotal decision that Ireland as a nation is about to address concerning women’s 
rights.  I am a consultant in foetal medicine practising in England at Birmingham Women’s 
and Children’s Hospital.  My special interests are in the prenatal diagnosis and management of 
foetal disease, the management of women with congenital heart disease and the management 
of multiple pregnancies.  Within my management of foetal disease, is included the diagnosis of 
differences in the foetus by ultrasound scan, preforming invasive prenatal diagnostic techniques 
such as amniocentesis and chorionic villus sampling, CVS, performing invasive prenatal sam-
pling such as drainage of fluid collections within a foetus which may be life threatening and 
also, where appropriate, counselling with regards to termination of pregnancy.

The unit where I work, Birmingham Women’s and Children’s Hospital is in the West Mid-
lands and delivers approximately 8,000 women each year.   The West Midlands has a popula-
tion of 5.5 million and my unit is the regional foetal medicine unit.  We perform over 7,000 
ultrasound scans, 410 invasive procedures checking the chromosomes of babies, 48 intrauterine 
blood transfusions and around 40 fetoscopic laser ablations.  We also perform a number of other 
invasive tests, including selective reductions which I may mention later.  The unit is a suprare-
gional referral centre for the management of feto-fetal transfusion syndrome and its manage-
ment by fetoscopic laser ablation.

I have had an opportunity to present to the Citizens’ Assembly and I am happy to discuss 
with the committee the care pathways of the termination of pregnancy under clause E in Eng-
land, the experience of some Irish women with whom we have come into contact using these 
services and some suggestions regarding the use of the term fatal or lethal abnormality.  I do not 
intend in my introduction to cover all of the aspects that I covered in my paper.  Having said 
that, I am happy to expand on that with questioning.  

I am sure that all of the members are aware that 50 years ago the Westminster Parliament 
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passed a Private Members’ Bill ensuring that doctors who performed abortions, under certain 
conditions, would not be performing an unlawful act.  This law has never been adopted in 
Northern Ireland.  The law was subsequently amended by the Human Fertilisation and Embry-
ology Act 1990.  It is still an offence to perform an abortion unless two independent medical 
practitioners are of the opinion, formed in good faith, which is an important phrase, that the case 
meets at least one of the required criteria.

I hope to speak to the committee about clause E which states: “there is a substantial risk 
that if the child were born it would suffer from such physical or mental abnormalities as to be 
seriously handicapped”.  The British Parliament has never sought to define what is meant by 
the words “substantial” or “serious”.  The matter has been left to be decided in good faith by 
the medical profession.

It is important to note that clause E of the termination Act is not gestation dependent.  Ac-
cording to the Office for National Statistics in the UK, as many as 190,000 abortions were per-
formed in England and Wales in 2016.  Of these, however, only 3,200 were performed under 
clause E.  As in the Republic of Ireland, the main foetal anomaly ultrasound scan is performed 
at approximately 20 weeks gestation in England and Wales.  Despite this only 500 of the 3,200 
abortions, that I have mentioned, were performed after 22 weeks of pregnancy.  Also, there 
were 140 selective terminations of pregnancy, involving multiple pregnancies and over three 
quarters of these were under clause E.  These can be life-saving procedures for the co-twin and 
I have described one such case in the case studies that I have submitted.  Over half of these ter-
minations of pregnancy are performed for chromosomal or central nervous system differences 
in the foetus. 

In 2016, 3,265 Irish women had a termination of pregnancy in England and Wales.  Of these 
140 had a termination under clause E of the Act.  Again, the foetal indications are predomi-
nantly chromosomal or central nervous system differences.

As explained in previous sessions that I have read, detailed anomaly scans of foetuses are 
performed at approximately 20 weeks gestation, though the availability appears to be much less 
in Ireland than it is in the UK.  In England and Wales if a difference is found in a foetus, a path-
way is followed that may include a second local scan to confirm the diagnosis by an obstetrician 
with a special interest in foetal medicine.  The second scan should be performed within five 
working days.  In some cases local obstetricians will be able to fully counsel women on the out-
look for their baby.  In other cases, referral to a recognised foetal medicine unit will take place.

We attempt to see women within three working days at my foetal medicine unit and that 
is the standard that has been set nationally.  When we see these women we scan them, then sit 
them in a more homely room and counsel them and their families in the presence of a midwife.  
All options are discussed with the women including, where appropriate, intrauterine foetal ther-
apy and the termination of pregnancy.  On leaving the woman is given a detailed report that is 
read through with her prior to her leaving and contact numbers for the foetal medicine centre 
are given.  A sub-group of women may need additional investigations, both invasive and non-
invasive, and some will require counselling by a specialist in another field.  It is important to 
acknowledge that women will need differing amounts of time to come to terms with this infor-
mation and make their decisions.

If the woman opts to terminate her pregnancy this will be arranged at her local unit where 
she can get additional family support.  Depending on the gestational age, both surgical and 
medical termination techniques are discussed with these women.  As there is an increasing 
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chance of foetuses being born alive after 22 weeks of gestation, the Royal College of Obstetri-
cians and Gynaecologists recommends that the foetal heart is stopped by performing foeticide 
prior to the termination of pregnancy for cases after 22 weeks of gestation unless the abnormal-
ity is not compatible with life.  

If the woman opts for a medical termination of pregnancy then a tablet, an anti-progestagen, 
is administered and admission arranged for induction of labour with prostaglandins about 36 
hours later.  Around 95% of women will deliver on the day they receive their prostaglandins.  
A small proportion will require a second course.  An infection, haemorrhage and retained pla-
cental tissue are the main short-term complications of the procedure.  For the Irish women that 
we see in our unit, we complete the termination process in Birmingham but once discharged 
the women return to Ireland.  While in Birmingham, they often express the difficulties that they 
have with regard to the limited number of people whom they can discuss this scenario with and 
gain support from.  

Finally, I would like to mention the concept of fatal or lethal conditions.  If the law in Ireland 
is to change and the termination of pregnancy is allowed for foetal differences, I would urge the 
committee not to make a list as with the ever-changing progress in medicine conditions would 
need to be added and removed from the list on a regular basis.  I would also strongly advise 
against being prescriptive and using the term lethal or fatal abnormality.  The problem is there 
is no agreed definition as to what lethal means.  Does it mean that all foetuses with the condi-
tion will die before birth?  Does it mean that all foetuses will die either before birth or in the 
neonatal period despite supportive therapy?  Does it mean that a baby will usually dies in one 
of these two periods?  Finally, has it just been noted that there is an association between the 
condition and death?

For the information of members, I included two tables from a publication by Wilkinson et al 
in the paper that I submitted to the committee.  The first of these lists the commonest conditions 
named in the medical literature that is said to be lethal foetal malformations.  The same paper 
quotes the longest age of survival for these conditions, and since this publication survival until 
13 months has been reported in a case of renal agenesis.  Therefore, counselling women whose 
pregnancies are complicated by a foetus with a severe abnormality is not a binary state of affairs 
but rather a complex discussion that requires a description of risk and probability.

 Last year, over 3,000 women travelled from Ireland to England to terminate their pregnan-
cies.  Approximately 140 of them had a termination because their foetus was thought to have 
“a substantial risk that if the child were born it would suffer from such physical or mental ab-
normalities as to be seriously handicapped”.  The care pathway that is followed by Irish women 
is sub-optimal, removes them from their support network and is only available to a sub-set of 
women who are able to initiative their contacts with units in England.  

Finally, if legislation is brought in for foetal conditions, particular care must be taken when 
using the phrase “lethal or fatal”.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Thompson for his presentation.  The first questioner for today is 
Deputy Kelleher.  Does he wish to share time?

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: Yes, I might share my time later today and members can avail of 
my remaining time if I am not here.

Chairman: Yes.
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Deputy  Billy Kelleher: Will Mr. Thompson elaborate on the observations and statements 
he made towards the end of his contribution urging us not to itemise the conditions that could 
be reasons for a termination.  Is he saying that it is clinically impossible to diagnose and dif-
ferentiate between a fatal condition and a very severe foetal condition?

Mr. Peter Thompson: The first thing is to decide what is the definition of “fatal”.  As a re-
sult of the history of the law on abortion in Ireland, it will be very difficult for Ireland’s obstetri-
cians to decide.  If it is decided in law that a fatal condition is one in which the baby always dies 
in utero, then we must consider that those conditions are exceptionally rare.  As the committee 
can see in the other table I submitted, even babies with trisomy 18 have been noted to survive 
following birth, although very rarely.  I worry that if the term “fatal” is used, some would argue 
that everything is fatal.  The contrary argument is that nothing is fatal because it does not result 
in a death in every single case.  A baby could live for a short period after birth.  That is my main 
consideration about the term “fatal”.

There was a first part to the question.  Is it impossible to draw up a list?  One could draw up 
a list of severe conditions if one could decide on one of those four different definitions.  One 
could draw up a list of severe conditions that would be appropriate for termination of pregnancy 
in Ireland.  The problem is that more conditions are being diagnosed all the time.  Another con-
dition might then need to be added.  Alternatively, we might find a cure for one of the conditions 
on the list.  I am concerned that legislators in Ireland would constantly have to revisit the list 
in a circular fashion trying to tick things off and put things on.  In my experience of legislation, 
that can take quite a considerable amount of time.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: Clause C was amended by the UK Human Fertilisation and Em-
bryology Act 1990.  Mr. Thompson said it is important to note that only clauses C and D are 
gestation dependent.  Is it correct that clause E is not gestation dependent?

Mr. Peter Thompson: That is correct.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: Is it correct that when Mr. Thompson, as an obstetrician, is diag-
nosing a foetal abnormality, the 20-week anomaly scan will identify most of these abnormali-
ties?

Mr. Peter Thompson: Depending on which abnormality it is, there will be a different pro-
portion diagnosed.  With cardiac abnormalities, it is much lower than 50%.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: What is the latest point of gestation at which all potential foetal 
abnormalities can be diagnosed?

Mr. Peter Thompson: They will never all be diagnosed on ultrasound but some women 
will not present until after 24 weeks.  Women who do not present until later in pregnancy tend 
to be those who have poorer socioeconomic backgrounds, such as those who are refugees.  Gen-
erally speaking, people who are less privileged in society will present later on and have poorer 
pregnancy outcomes overall.  If there is a gestational age limit that is lower, those women 
would be disadvantaged.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: Am I right in saying that the NHS gives free anomaly scans to all 
women?

Mr. Peter Thompson: Yes.
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Deputy  Billy Kelleher: At what stage of gestation does that anomaly scan take place?  Is 
it at 12 weeks or 20 weeks?

Mr. Peter Thompson: In the UK, women have scans at 12 weeks, which is predominantly 
for dating.  In addition, women are offered that test as part of a combined screening test that 
measures age, the thickness at the back of the foetus’s neck - the so-called nuchal translucency 
- and markers of hormones in the woman’s bloodstream.  That will give the likelihood of the 
risk of the baby having Down syndrome, Edwards syndrome or Patau syndrome.  One does not 
have to have that test.  In our unit, only about 60% to 70% of women take up that test but they 
still have the scan for viability.  In addition to that, women get a detailed anomaly scan between 
18 and 22 weeks, which most units try to perform at about 20 weeks.

Deputy  Billy Kelleher: Is Mr. Thompson saying that, in his clinical experience, it would be 
pointless to have a cut-off period of 12 weeks’ gestation for foetal abnormalities in view of the 
fact they cannot be diagnosed definitively until at least up until 22 or 24 weeks?

Mr. Peter Thompson: Some foetal abnormalities are diagnosed at 12 weeks but very few.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I thank Mr. Thompson for appearing before the committee and 
for his evidence.  We are very interested in hearing the facts on this committee and Mr. Thomp-
son has outlined them comprehensively.  If my math is correct, according to the statistics Mr. 
Thompson gave us, 55% of terminations under clause E, which represents a very small number 
- about 1.7% - are performed between 13 and 19 weeks.  That is the majority.  Will Mr. Thomp-
son outline whether there are follow-up scans?  Deputy Kelleher and I share concerns about 
the availability of scanning equipment and access to scans for Irish women.  We are told by 
management in the HSE that 20-week anomaly scans in many cases are offered where they are 
clinically indicated.  Is there anything that would give a clinical indication?  My understanding 
is these anomaly scans are screening scans and there will not be any form of clinical indication.  
If there is some form of clinical indication, and Mr. Thompson is the expert in this regard, he 
might share it with us.

Could Mr. Thompson define what constitutes the neonatal period?  He referenced this in 
his submission.  Is it in terms of development or weeks?  We are fully cognisant of the issues 
Mr. Thompson has outlined in the context of making lists and how prescriptive and unhelpful it 
might be to clinicians but we are equally charged with considering recommendations from the 
Citizens’ Assembly.  Mr. Thompson is aware of those recommendations.  Some relate to condi-
tions resulting in death before or shortly after birth.  Whether it is a good or bad idea is really a 
matter for the citizens because that is what has been given to us.  We have to consider that and 
we have to contemplate what recommendations we will make and how they will translate into 
the medical community.  I fear that as we are sitting here trying to come up with the report, there 
are doctors and clinicians watching proceedings at home, tearing their hair out and shouting at 
the screen that this will not work for them in practice.  We want to be respectful and mindful 
of the recommendations of the Citizens’ Assembly but we equally have to come up with some-
thing that is fit for purpose and which translates into medical practice for people.  Perhaps Mr. 
Thompson will give us the benefit of his experience in grappling with that particular dilemma.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I think there were four questions.  I will take them in reverse order.  
The issue of death before or after birth could be helped if the word “usually” was added.  That 
gives a degree of scope because nothing - or very few things - in medicine is 100%.  If one said 
“usually death before or after”, that would help the committee’s recommendations tremendous-
ly.  In talking about the neonatal period, we generally speak about the first four weeks of life.
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For the first two questions I have written down “clinical indications”.  What was the Depu-
ty’s second question?

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: It relates to the fact that scans are offered in most instances where 
it is clinically indicated.

Mr. Peter Thompson: It is possible to pick cohorts of women who are statistically more 
likely to have a baby with a difference, for example, diabetic women or it may be people who 
have congenital heart disease and who would be significantly more likely to have a baby with 
that disease than would a woman with a normal heart.  In relative terms, however, the majority 
of foetal abnormalities will still not be detected because the majority of foetal abnormalities 
will occur in a low-risk population just because there are more low-risk women.  That is why 
the UK screening programme would strongly recommend everybody having a scan at 20 weeks.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: We can all endorse that.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I am afraid I missed the Deputy’s first question completely.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I only have scribbled notes.  I think that was my first question 
- on the scans.  I know Mr. Thompson is here specifically to discuss clause E.  However, he 
mentions that clauses C and D are gestation dependent.  How is that dated?  Is it simply from 
the date of the last period or by scan?

Mr. Peter Thompson: It is on best dates.  Best dates would be determined really by ultra-
sound scan in the first trimester.  The best way to date a pregnancy is between 11 and 14 weeks 
by an ultrasound scan.  If that is not possible, the dating becomes less and less accurate as time 
goes by.  Effectively, I explain it to my patients as follows.  With a small child, it is possible to 
tell roughly how old he or she is by how tall he or she is.  That is the same up until approximate-
ly 24 weeks; we can determine how old a foetus is by its size.  However, the standard deviation 
broadens quite significantly after that time.  It would not be possible to tell the ages of those of 
us in this room by our heights.  Later in gestation, it is necessary to do something else.  Up until 
24 weeks, the best way to do it is by ultrasound.  In the UK it is by ultrasound scan.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I thank Mr. Thompson for coming over today.  Some of the con-
versations we are having here seem to be on preconceived parameters and I am not sure who put 
them in place in this country.  Based on Mr. Thompson’s evidence, he seems to have dedicated 
his life to saving life during pregnancy, including the mother’s life.

I am assuming that foetal-to-foetal transfusion syndrome means twin-to-twin transfusion 
syndrome.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Yes.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I have only heard of it described as twin-to-twin transfusion 
syndrome before.  Mr. Thompson is dedicated to saving life and we are having conversations 
here about term limits, gestational stages, survival rates and all of that.  I am concerned that we 
are trying to frame our work into a preconceived diagram and, at this stage, there is no need for 
that.  We should trust experts in their field, such as Mr. Thompson, to progress their education 
and progress medicine.  I am starting to think we should just let the doctors, the experts, deal 
with this.

Has Mr. Thompson ever encountered a person in the UK who has been compelled or forced 
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against her will to terminate a pregnancy?  There is almost a narrative here - this is obviously 
non-evidence based from what I can see - that doctors might be encouraging people to termi-
nate.  However, based on Mr. Thompson’s evidence, it appears that he does a lot of work to 
counsel people, advise them on their situation and help them through it.  I ask him to speak to 
that.

I also ask him to speak to the psychological and mental stress on families - mothers, fathers 
and other children - that can arise from a diagnosis of foetal abnormality, usually fatal.  Does he 
have any figures for marital breakdown as a result of such a catastrophic diagnosis?  The previ-
ous speakers mentioned this and I have spoken about it previously.  With advances in medicine, 
children are surviving from just over 24 weeks, which would have been unheard of a decade 
ago.  I support my colleagues in that we have to be very careful about putting in parameters, 
particularly when medicine is advancing so quickly and when children who would not have 
survived ten years ago might survive in the future.

As Deputy O’Reilly said, the 20-week scan is not available outside of the Dublin hospitals.  
Professor Louise Kenny from Cork addressed the Joint Committee on Health on this matter.  
Mr. Thompson spoke about diabetic women and other women with congenital defects them-
selves.  We are missing one per week in Ireland where it is the wild card.  It is the 20-year old 
who has a child with whatever condition.  Clearly, we have issues in this country with 20-week 
scans.  I do not want to misquote Professor Kenny, but I think her words were that one child a 
week is being born in circumstances that are not ideal and that these children should obviously 
be delivered in our teaching hospitals.  I ask Mr. Thompson to address those points.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I wish to add to the Deputy’s final point.  As a junior doctor, I found 
it was quite difficult to come to terms with risk and why certain people have babies with ab-
normalities and who are the high-risk people.  The easiest analogy I can see in our practice is 
that everybody talks about older women being at increased risk of having babies with Down’s 
syndrome.  However, most babies with Down’s syndrome are born to younger women.  That is 
because younger women have more children.  It is just a factor of how many children are born 
in that cohort.  If only women over a certain age are screened - when I started my career it was 
those over 37 in the UK - then the majority of babies with Down’s syndrome will not be picked 
up.

I am trying to work backwards through some of the questions.  There are figures on marital 
breakdown.  I think there are well-published figures on marital breakdown in families where a 
baby has been born with trisomy 21.  I would not like to quote what they are, but they are defi-
nitely there.  The psychological and mental stress that people go through when they have a baby 
with a difference is huge.  I do not want to talk about clauses C and D, because that is not part of 
my practice any more.  However, the babies in the cohort we are talking about are very different 
because these are wanted babies where women have gone a significant part of the way through 
their pregnancies telling their families they are going to have a child and when the child is go-
ing to be born.  They then get this devastating news that the baby has some major difference.  
We should not be sidelined by the occasional story of babies with talipes or cleft lip or the like, 
we should be concentrating on the major differences that these babies have.  More than half of 
them have significant chromosome or central nervous system differences.  This puts the parents 
under huge stress and makes it difficult for them to make these decisions.  We never give a di-
agnosis and then agree to a termination on the same appointment unless we are giving a second 
opinion to another centre.  If people had been given a diagnosis at another centre, decided that 
they wanted somebody else to check, and had already been given all of the information, then 
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we would agree to terminate at that point.  Otherwise, however, we make parents go away and 
think about things.  

In response to the question on preconceived parameters and leaving matters to the medical 
profession, I think that the medical profession in Ireland would want some support from the 
Legislature.  I come back, however, to the section of the Human Fertilisation and Embryol-
ogy Authority Act, HFEA, which talks about two independent clinicians coming to an opinion 
formed in good faith.  I can essentially make a decision that could be wrong but if I have done 
so in good faith then I would be acting within the law.  This is very important because we as a 
profession try to keep up to speed with professional development - I would like to think that I 
certainly do.  Nobody gets everything right all the time, however, and we have to acknowledge 
that.  None of us in any walk of life would say that we are perfect, but if a doctor makes a deci-
sion in good faith then that is what the law needs to protect.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I thank Dr. Thompson very much.

Chairman: The Deputy has another minute or so.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: God, I never have extra time.

Chairman: We are very impressed.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Dr. Thompson mentioned foeticide being performed prior to the 
delivery of a child with complex abnormalities.  We have heard testimonies about injections 
through the heart and graphic descriptions of cutting up dead unborn children.  I wonder if Dr. 
Thompson could expand on the use of foeticide.  Who is benefitting here: the mother; the doc-
tor; the child?  What is the holistic approach to early delivery or late termination, or whatever it 
is that we want to call it?  I ask Dr. Thompson to expand on this because there has been much 
conversation about it being a very barbaric act, though I am sure that Dr. Thompson might dis-
agree with that.

Chairman: I ask Dr. Thompson to be as brief as he can.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Foeticide is performed when one is terminating a pregnancy after 22 
weeks of gestation.  We tend to do this under ultrasound control and gain access to the foetal 
circulation, sometimes through the heart.  It is important that one then paralyses the foetus by 
administering a drug much as one would with a general anaesthetic, followed by an injection 
of either a local anaesthetic or potassium, which stops the heart.  Once the foetus is born it be-
comes a baby and it is important to realise that whereas the foetus has no rights in the United 
Kingdom, the second it is born it acquires full rights.  In the UK, then, one might end up with 
the scenario in which a woman undergoes a termination of pregnancy without the performing 
of foeticide only for the baby to be resuscitated afterwards.  One would then have turned a 
scenario involving a foetus with an abnormality into one involving a premature baby with an 
abnormality, thus making the whole situation worse.  Foeticide is not something that people like 
myself enjoy because we did, after all, go into our profession in order to try to save lives. On 
rare occasions, however, I think it is necessary.

Chairman: Dr. Thompson does not favour the use of the expression “fatal foetal abnormal-
ity”.  What does he consider an appropriate term for people to use here?  I know that this is a 
difficult question, but is there a more appropriate term?

Mr. Peter Thompson: I would go with the UK terminology: “a substantial risk of serious 
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handicap”.

Chairman: That is quite a mouthful in a debate.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Does the Chairman mean what expression to use when one is talking 
to a patient, or what expression should be encompassed in law?

Chairman: When we were putting a title on today’s session, for example.  What is the best 
language to use in the context of a debate?  I know that this is not something that-----

Mr. Peter Thompson: One could use words like “serious” or “severe”.

Chairman: What about “incompatible with life”?  Is that not an expression that Dr. Thomp-
son would favour?

Mr. Peter Thompson: Some people would determine that expression as meaning that every 
baby in this category would always die the second it is born.

Chairman: The question I am asking is obviously very difficult but I am wondering if there 
is better terminology that we could use in this debate.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I have given the committee four definitions of fatal as taken from 
the literature.  If the committee were to decide on one of these definitions and stick to it then 
I think that it could use the word “fatal”.  It has to decide what fatal is, however, before it can 
use the term.

Chairman: I call on Deputy Smith.  She has ten minutes.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I thank Dr. Thompson and I found his contribution very interesting.  
Following up on his last point, I think he has touched on something very important with regard 
to how we define what is fatal.  Dr. Thompson is absolutely correct - once we are born we are 
all fatal.   To try to put legislative structures on words and definitions can, as Dr. Thompson has 
recounted from his own experience, take a very long time.  There was a case in Britain some 
time ago - I cannot remember the name - in which debate and discussion of legislative changes 
in the High Court resulted in a long period of suffering for a woman and her child.  I would like 
to say openly to everybody here that we have to be careful about the words we use when we are 
advising on the kind of legislation we want and we have to be mindful of some of the matters 
that Dr. Thompson has pointed out.  He has pointed out some very serious issues that we have 
to grapple with here.  One that struck me was the fact that some women present late with crisis 
pregnancies involving severe foetal disability because of poorer socioeconomic conditions.  We 
have to be very mindful of such cases because, in looking at how we structure some kind of 
legislation, we have to remember that the Citizens’ Assembly very passionately wanted it added 
to the discourse that socioeconomic factors play a major role in forming the outcome of their 
discussions.

I would like to pick up on a number of points, some of them in the same vein as Deputy 
O’Connell’s questions about foeticide.  I understand that an injection goes straight into the 
heart and stops it beating.  This injection is lethal - it paralyses the foetus and kills it.  Is there 
evidence, however, that such an injection causes pain?  I ask Dr. Thompson to expand on the 
discussion of pain because it is often used in a very emotive way to argue against the treatment 
of pregnancy in this way.  I would also like Dr. Thompson to expand an another important point.  
Women often look for options after they have had a scan at 20 weeks and they might need a 
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follow-up scan very quickly within five days.  This is often not available to them in Ireland, 
however, and that puts them at a big disadvantage.    Although they may go to Britain and have 
that, they need the follow-up care, discussion and conversation, to have the important emo-
tional, physical and medical understanding of everything they are going through.  Would Mr. 
Thompson agree that because they are forced out of Ireland and cannot get that care at home, 
where they are surrounded by family and other supports, they are particularly disadvantaged?  
Those who talk about cruelty to a foetus or an unborn child often use the word “baby” but we 
have to also think about the cruelty to the woman who is being denied access to this kind of 
reproductive health.  I would like Mr. Thompson to comment on those points. 

Mr. Peter Thompson: If we talk about late diagnosis, some conditions only present late.  
The other case that I described in the papers, microcephaly, whereby the brain is not growing 
normally, usually only presents after 24 weeks.  Even if a woman has a history of having a 
previous baby with this, in many cases she has a 1:4 chance of having another baby affected 
in the same way.  We would have to scan those women all the way through their pregnancy.  
Sometimes the head size appears normal until they get as far as 28 or 32 weeks and suddenly it 
becomes apparent that the baby has microcephaly.  That is important.

With regard to foetal awareness and pain, the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaeco-
logists has studied the literature on this, and regularly comes out with definitions of it.  Last time 
it said the evidence that the foetus can and does experience pain is less compelling and accord-
ingly the benefit of administering analgesia is less evident while the risk of the practicalities of 
so doing remain.  On the basis of first do no harm, prior to the procedure described in this report, 
analgesia is no longer considered necessary from the perspective of foetal pain or awareness.  
The previous report had suggested that we should give analgesia to the foetus in case the foetus 
felt pain.  After that it suggested that it was not necessary.  I am not an expert on foetal pain but 
that is the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists’ position.  

I think Irish women are greatly disadvantaged.  In the UK, not long ago, there was, and there 
still is, a shortage of sonographers and many units stopped doing 20 week scans.  We have had 
to train up many of our midwives who perform ultrasound scans to get a new cohort of profes-
sionals to do this.  It should be something that is available to everyone.  Ultrasound depends on 
how large the woman is, in women who are overweight the views are less good.  Women are 
often brought back for a second look.  We talked about doing it between 18 and 22 weeks but 
if we do it at 18 weeks we have to bring back a greater proportion of women for a second look 
and we end up doing more scans overall.  That is why most people settle for around 20 weeks 
as their best evidence.  

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I note that a post mortem on the foetus is often recommended for 
medical information for future pregnancies.  Sometimes the information that might result from 
that post mortem can be difficult for a woman to accept and absorb if there are issues about her 
anatomy and the possibility of conceiving and bearing to full term in a normal way.  Would Mr. 
Thompson comment on the sort of follow-up needed from various specialists, that is not avail-
able in Ireland, and the possibility of having a post mortem on the foetus to advise for the future 
reproductive health of the woman?

Mr. Peter Thompson: The post mortem provides her with two opportunities.  People often 
want a reason why something has happened.  This gives an opportunity to close that chapter and 
allow people to move on.  That is very important.  Information can be difficult to hear some-
times but often it is better to have the information.  The second point is that if a woman hears 
this story, and how bad it is, it is quite distressing because she has lost her baby but she wants 
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to know whether it is going to happen again.  We might be able to do the post mortem and say 
there is a 1:1000 chance this will happen again or we might find other differences in the baby as 
well.  That means that it would appear the baby has a syndrome and that syndrome has a higher 
recurrence risk, a 1:4 chance.  People will view those two facts very differently and can make 
decisions about their future reproductive life in the knowledge of what is there.  In the service 
here this is a time when ultrasound scanning could be directed at a much higher risk group.

Senator  Lynn Ruane: I thank Mr. Thompson for his very detailed and useful presentation.  
My first question, about the dangers of a strict definition of lethal abnormality, has been partly 
answered but could Mr. Thompson expand a bit on why the flexibility is important in terms of 
deferring to medical professions and say how that works in practice?  If the legislation is more 
flexible are there standard guidelines that the medical profession would work from or would it 
depend on the doctor or consultant a woman is assigned to?

Mr. Thompson mentioned in his presentation that when a woman is beyond 24 weeks’ gesta-
tion a team of hospital managers, two clinicians, a neonatologist and a midwife meet to assess 
whether to perform the termination after 24 weeks.  Could he comment on the rate of abortions 
in these cases and if any are declined, why?  

My third question is about an issue Mr. Thompson said he did not want to speak on.  I would 
like him to comment on it but if he does not want to that is fair enough.  It is ground D, when 
continuance of the pregnancy would have a harmful impact on the other children of the woman.  
We have not discussed that very much, apart from the socio-economic grounds.  I do not know 
whether it would fall under that heading.  Could Mr. Thompson expand a bit on that and how 
we would encompass that in our legislation?  How is it assessed, is it based on the word of the 
woman saying her family would be negatively affected?  It would be great if Mr. Thompson 
could walk us through that.

Mr. Peter Thompson: To start with the last question, it would be safe to say that many 
clinicians in the UK do not understand that they can use more than one clause.  In the UK, two 
people have to fill out a form to say this woman meets the ground of one clause and most people 
were of the opinion that she must meet one but she can meet the grounds of several clauses.  The 
figures I have given are for E alone, and with any other clause.  I was not here to discuss clauses 
C and D.  I no longer do any gynaecology whatsoever, so I do not get involved in cases such as 
clauses C or D.  Cases such as clause D obviously impact on the family if there is a baby with a 
significant congenital abnormality.  In reality I believe that in almost every case where I agree 
to a termination for a significant foetal abnormality, I should probably also circle clause C, and 
if there are other children already present, I circle clause D.  I do not believe how it cannot have 
an impact on them.  I believe that more people should have multiple clauses circled but people 
tend not to do that.  If they hit one hurdle then that is all people tend to be concerned about.  If 
I scan a patient and the top of the baby’s skull is not formed, the baby has anencephaly and the 
brain is being destroyed.  I would not think about the social scenarios so much with regard to 
whether I needed to circle that clause.

I will now turn to the dangers of sticking to strict definitions.  With regard to relative guide-
lines, there is no doubt that people do things differently in different units.  Everybody has to 
find their own way but in the UK one has to find what one believes to be significant and serious 
reasons.  Nobody can define what is right, but there has to be a standard deviation within which 
people fall.  In the UK, if we see a woman who has asked for a termination of pregnancy for a 
foetal abnormality and if I believed that it did not fulfil clause A, then I am duty bound to find 
her a second opinion.  The person who finds the second opinion may also say that he or she 
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does not believe it either.  That would be one scenario.  I have come across cases where we have 
declined after 24 weeks.  Reference was made to the group and the people who refused in those 
cases were the people who actually do the procedure, the clinicians.  The others in the group had 
felt that the cases complied with the law and the people who performed the procedure did not.

In one situation, for example, which was a psychiatric case partly, the women said that 
she would kill herself if something did not happen.  We did not feel that it had been explained 
enough or that enough detail had been gone into at that stage.  We felt that we were only part 
way.  One of the interesting things I learned from that case was that we were put under a lot 
of pressure to do this and then we said, “Are you going to sign one half of the form?”, but no-
body was happy to sign the form.  They expected that we would.  It is very important that it is 
the relevant specialty person who signs in this regard.  If a doctor believes that a woman has 
a psychiatric illness and that is the reason she should have a termination of pregnancy, then 
psychiatrists need to be involved in it.  They should be giving the opinions in those cases.  I am 
not a psychiatrist.  They should sign half of the form and then I can be involved in meeting the 
woman and make a decision based on what they say.  If I agree, then I can sign the other half of 
the form.  Other relevant specialties need to be involved in the process also.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: I want to follow up on that point as it pertains to women in Ire-
land.  Mr. Thompson has described a counselling system, options being discussed and detailed 
reports.  In his response to Senator Ruane the witness spoke of situations where there is a differ-
ence of views among doctors.  How much of that does a woman get if she travels from Ireland 
for a termination?   Is any of this pre-decision making available to her with regard to options 
being discussed and having time to think about those options or do the doctors in the UK rely 
on this happening in Ireland?

Mr. Peter Thompson: We expect that they would have non-directive counselling in Ireland 
and when they come over we will discuss things with them.  Often women are sent over for a 
second opinion.  We re-scan, do everything from the beginning and re-counsel.  It is difficult 
because just as we would do for a women from Birmingham or from Stoke, we do not agree to 
do a termination when we first meet them, but we impart some information and tell them to go 
away and think about it.  The women from Ireland then have to find a local hotel in the UK or 
return to their community in Ireland.  Most, however, tend to stay over in the UK, or Birming-
ham in our case.  Most women from Ireland travelling for a termination used to go to Liverpool.  
Now it is London and some - fewer I believe - come to Birmingham.  It is very difficult for these 
women.  They certainly receive some counselling.  I believe it is adequate.

I am more concerned that they do not receive the follow-up care that they should.  This is 
not because the people in Ireland cannot, or do not, give it.  If a woman has had a foeticide 
performed there should be some feedback afterwards.  I ask patients if they have any questions 
about the procedure and how we got to that decision.  It is very important that they say yes or 
no to that.  If the woman is concerned about how she got to the decision then we need to explore 
it at that time.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: When we consider the timeline, is Mr. Thompson aware of wom-
en who simply cannot come back for economic reasons and perhaps cannot afford to stay or 
cannot afford to return to the UK?

Mr. Peter Thompson: They have expressed to us about the costs, but once they are in the 
UK they tend to stay.  There is, however, a constant pressure to keep the costs down for them.  
The woman’s partner is often there too.  One is aware of an external force that one probably 
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should not be aware of.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: Have I time for another question?  It is about the definition is-
sues, as the raised by the Chairman.  There is no definition of substantial risk and in Britain 
there is the “in good faith” clause.  In Mr. Thompson’s’ view, does this make it easier for medics 
to make decisions?  Have there ever been court challenges on doctors’ decisions or does that 
clause protect their medical judgment?  I ask this in the context of Ireland’s situation where the 
definition of the right to life of the unborn and the equal right to life of the mother causes real 
difficulties for medics’ decisions as to when they are within the law or outside the law.

Mr. Peter Thompson: There have been court challenges.  There was one that did not get 
to court where the Crown Prosecution Service examined a case of a termination of pregnancy 
because of a cleft lip.  There was considerable publicity about that at the time.  It is easy to quote 
the very rare occasions when these things happen - they are very rare and that is the only one I 
can think of at present - but what I hope the committee would do is frame a law that would work 
99.9% of the time and would be good for the women of this country in general, not concentrate 
on the 0.01%.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: By and large, the witness would say that not defining “substan-
tial”, for example, is positive.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Yes.  It allows a degree of flexibility.  We are professionals and 
professionals in other disciplines make decisions with patients about resuscitation and non-
resuscitation that could be argued about by other clinicians who would think that, perhaps, they 
had come to the wrong decision.  It is not obstetricians alone who make these difficult decisions.  
I believe a degree of flexibility is required.

Chairman: Senator Ned O’Sullivan has six minutes.

Senator  Ned O’Sullivan: I had two questions but they have been anticipated almost ex-
actly by Deputy Jan O’Sullivan and Senator Ruane.  I have a general question which is not re-
ally part of Mr. Thompson’s remit but he stated in reply to a previous question that women from 
less privileged backgrounds present later than the  majority of women.  Is there a programme in 
place in the UK to encourage earlier presentation?  Is there anything in that regard that we could 
learn from in this country?  Clearly, if women are presenting later they are possibly depriving 
themselves of choices which it might be too late to avail of.

Mr. Peter Thompson: The big changes in the UK over recent years are that we had targets 
which we had to reach for booking women, so having first contacts before 12 weeks of gesta-
tion was increased to having two contacts before then.  The other key change was direct access 
to midwives.  Initially, one had to get an appointment with one’s family doctor and the family 
doctor would refer the woman to the midwife and-or the hospital.  Now, there is direct access to 
the midwife so one almost misses out on the first part of the chain, which in some ways can be 
bureaucratic for many patients.  The midwives will liaise with the GPs and the GPs can input 
from there, but it is not dependent on the GPs initiating the first contact.  Women find it easier 
to contact midwives in those circumstances.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank Mr. Thompson for attending the meeting today.  It is 
an interesting discussion.  What happens if a woman or girl presents and has not made up her 
mind fully or has not been counselled previously as to whether she will or will not continue with 
the pregnancy?  Is there a facility to counsel or assist in any way?
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My other question relates to when there is a serious abnormality.  Mr. Thompson mentioned 
something interesting, which we knew, regarding younger women and particular abnormali-
ties, with the second baby having a difficulty as well.  To what extent, if at all, can one assess 
the strength of character of the woman presenting in those circumstances?  She is suddenly 
confronted with a serious issue.  She is looking forward to giving birth and is full of expecta-
tion, but suddenly her hopes are dashed.  What does Mr. Thompson do to assist her?  Does she 
continue with her intention to have a termination or does she draw back from that?  To what 
extent can Mr. Thompson tell whether she will be able to deal with the issue in her life ahead in 
the case of either the intervention or a normal birth?

Mr. Peter Thompson: With regard to counselling of women who are uncertain whether 
they wish to continue, is that in the context of a foetal abnormality?

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Yes.

Mr. Peter Thompson: That is relatively easy because it is a common scenario.  That is one 
of the other reasons that gestational age limits are difficult.  If there is a 24-week gestational age 
limit and the woman has an ultrasound scan at 20 weeks and two days, a week later she gets a 
second opinion in her local hospital and the following week she is seen by us for the first time, 
the gestational age is nearly 23 weeks already.  If the limit is in one week we are going to say 
to the woman, “Now you must make up your mind and you have a couple of days in which to 
do it.  If you do not make up your mind in that couple of days you are continuing with the preg-
nancy”.  It is much easier to say that there is time for the woman to come to the right decision.  
What people cannot do is flip between one decision and the other, and occasionally people do 
that.  They say they do not want to have a termination but then follow up and say they want one.  
They come back and we discuss it and then they say they do not want it.  It is difficult to make 
generalisations but often with people who are constantly changing their minds one ends up in 
the do no harm scenario and, by default, women may well carry on with the pregnancy.  Where 
they keep changing their minds one does not want to do something that is irreversible.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: We were given evidence to the effect that in quite a number 
of cases women change their minds.  Can Mr. Thompson offer them any assistance at that stage 
in terms of counselling?  For example, must they make up their own minds or, given her general 
demeanour, can he assess the strength or weakness of the woman in question as to whether she 
is taking the right course?

Mr. Peter Thompson: It would be difficult to say whether she is taking the right course 
because whatever course it is would be right for her.  What we are much more concerned about 
is when people appear to be putting undue pressure on the woman.  One of the reasons that we 
have a flexible time gap between diagnosis and when we would act is that it allows people to 
think.  People have access to our telephone numbers and can speak to the midwives, who have 
been in the consultation as well and will also see the women again.  Assessing somebody’s 
strength of character is very difficult in this scenario, and passing judgment is difficult.  How-
ever, we have difficulties when we feel that people are having undue pressure put on them by 
other members of the family either to continue or to end the pregnancy.  That often becomes 
very obvious.  Then we will see the patients apart from the other members of the family and 
discuss it with them in confidence.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Mr. Thompson mentioned young women, in particular, pos-
sibly having one or two children with serious disabilities or defects.  To what extent is counsel-
ling available in the case of a woman or girl having a baby who proves eventually to have seri-
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ous physical or mental or both sensory and physical difficulties?  Does she receive counselling 
as to whether she has a pre-existing condition that might lead to a repeat of that?  Does she get 
adequate counselling and support in those circumstances to help her to make up her mind?  Ob-
viously there is a deep desire to have a normal baby.  In the first instance, the woman may have 
had her baby with abnormalities in the knowledge that she wanted to have her baby anyway.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I would hope that they have adequate counselling.  They will get 
counselling from their foetal medicine consultant.  They will get counselling from the midwives 
because often the women will stay, we will leave the room and they will have a private con-
versation with their midwives.  In addition, a subset of women will need to have an input from 
other specialists and sometimes those specialists are clinical geneticists.  Then the clinical ge-
neticist will see the woman on her own or with her partner and discuss the impact.  Sometimes 
these things can have an impact on the children who are already born so the clinical geneticist 
can discuss those things with the woman and whomever.  It is important that there is a care 
pathway that includes clinical geneticists as well.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I welcome Mr. Thompson here today.  In his talk he spoke a lot 
about aborting babies because they had been diagnosed with a particular condition.  I am very 
concerned that we would think it is okay to abort babies because they are going to be disabled.  
As Mr. Thompson has said, there is no way for a doctor to know how long these babies will 
live.  Many families have been in contact with me to say that they have treasured the time that 
they got to spend with their babies even though it was not for a long period.  Other families have 
told me that they were told that their babies would not live very long only to discover that the 
diagnosis was incorrect and the babies were born safely and enjoying life.

It is also worrying that in England and Wales something like Down’s syndrome is seen as 
a reason to end a baby’s life.  We have all become familiar with the terrible statistics that nine 
out of every ten babies are aborted in these countries when there is a diagnosis of Down’s 
syndrome.  There is no reason the situation would be any different if abortion was introduced 
in Ireland.  Does Mr. Thompson think that a diagnosis of Down’s syndrome is something that 
should deprive a baby of his or her right to be born?

Mr. Peter Thompson: If the question is do I think that Down’s syndrome or Trisomy 21 is 
a condition that fulfils the UK law of having a significant chance of severe handicap then I think 
it does.  There are differences as well between babies with normal hearts who have Down’s syn-
drome and babies with abnormal hearts who have Down’s syndrome because the co-morbidities 
with Down’s syndrome can greatly affect their outcomes.

One of the things that I did do was outline what happens in my unit in the UK.  We also do 
a lot of the first trimester screening for the country whereby the blood tests are sent to our labo-
ratory.  I gave the committee some figures for affected pregnancies and the number of people 
who have terminations.  As one can see, out of the 67 cases that were detected by screening, 
44 people opted to terminate their pregnancy.  That is not 90%.  That is a specific subgroup of 
people because between 30% and 40% of women have already opted out of this screening in the 
first place.  Those women are women who would not want to contemplate having a termination 
due to Down’s syndrome.  This is a situation that is person-specific.  What affects some people 
in some people’s lives affects others differently. 

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Mr. Thompson’s talk focused a lot on how babies who have 
been diagnosed with a condition are often aborted at various stages.  As he said, the babies can 
be aborted at quite a late stage in pregnancy if a condition like Down’s syndrome is diagnosed.  
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I am worried by the fact that we are living in a world where something like Down’s syndrome 
is seen as something that could mean a baby’s life could be ended.

Doctors are trained to save lives and support tiny babies who are seriously ill.  Does Mr. 
Thompson think that ending the life of a baby because he or she is sick goes completely against 
such training?

Mr. Peter Thompson: I think that it is a difficult scenario but it is part of the whole family 
and women’s health scenario.  I do not think that it is against the training of doctors, no.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Mr. Thompson, in one of his answers, talked about how we 
could consider a law that says abortion can be allowed where a baby is usually not going to sur-
vive.  Does all of that boil down to a law where a group of people are allowed to decide whether 
a baby is allowed to live or not?  This is completely the opposite to what we do here in Ireland, 
where doctors do their best to care for both mother and baby.  If we repealed the eighth amend-
ment and introduced a similar law to the one in the UK would it not fundamentally change what 
doctors do in Ireland?  They would no longer care for two patients.  Instead, they would be al-
lowed to decide which sick baby to treat.  Does Mr. Thompson think that we would then treat 
sick babies with a real lack of care and compassion?

Mr. Peter Thompson: I suppose the question is do I treat people with a lack of care and 
compassion and my answer would have to be no, I do not.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Mr. Thompson has mentioned in the background note in his 
statement that he supplied to the committee that he worked as a lecturer at the Royal Free Hos-
pital.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Yes.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I am sure that when he was a lecturer he lectured young male 
and female students.  What kind of lectures did he give?  A lecturer can influence young people 
at an early stage.  In his lectures did he say “Yes” or “No” or how did he guide his students?

Mr. Peter Thompson: Is the Deputy talking about guiding people in life in general, in ob-
stetrics or about abortion?

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: My problem at the moment is that I do not want to repeal the 
eighth amendment.  I am fully sure, having listened to Mr. Thompson talk, that he wants to 
repeal the eighth amendment.

Chairman: Mr. Thompson is not here to comment on the eighth amendment.  He is here to 
give us medical evidence.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Yes.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Mr. Thompson’s introduction and everything that he has said 
seems to indicate that he favours repealing the eighth amendment.

Chairman: We asked Mr. Thompson to come here to give us evidence on the foetal abnor-
mality area.  I do not think we require him to answer questions about our laws here unless he 
feels he wants to.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I do believe in the system that is present in the UK at the moment.  
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Whether the Republic chooses to move down the road to a different system I acknowledge is its 
position completely and not for me to decide on in way, shape or form.  However, I am happy 
to come here and discuss what the English experience is of working under a set of laws where 
the termination of pregnancy is available to women for babies with a significant abnormality.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: My biggest fear is that back in 2016 there was over 190,000 
abortions in England and Wales.  Does Mr. Thompson think that number is very high?

Mr. Peter Thompson: Just over 3,000 abortions were performed because of a serious ab-
normality.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Does Mr. Thompson think 190,000 abortions a year in England 
and Wales is very high?

Mr. Peter Thompson: I am here to discuss babies that have had a termination of pregnancy, 
and how the termination of pregnancy works under clause E which relates to the 3,000 figure, 
which is a very small percentage of the 190,000 cases.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Mr. Thompson said a small percentage but I think even one 
abortion is a lot.  I thank him for his answers.

Chairman: I call Deputy Catherine Murphy and she has six minutes.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: I thank Mr. Thompson for his presentation.  I would like to 
acknowledge the fact that the legal and health care systems in the UK cater for a significant 
number of Irish women, and has done so for decades.  Given our experience with mother and 
baby homes and Magdalen laundries, we are not in a position to be shouting from the rooftop 
in terms of how women have been treated in this country.

 I want to ask Mr. Thompson about future proofing.  I take the point Mr. Thompson has 
made in respect of being overly specific about conditions.  Obviously things have changed from 
a socioeconomic point of view.  Very often people are delaying pregnancies and are availing 
of assisted reproduction.  Sometimes there are twins or triplets in a multiple pregnancy.  What 
impact has that had?  Mr. Thompson made a point on a co-twin benefitting from the procedure.  
I presume that would happen in a situation where neither twin would be born alive without that 
intervention.  In the area of future-proofing legislation, in Mr. Thompson’s experience are there 
aspects of law which we must consider in that regard?  The current situation is that there is an 
equal right to life.  That right would probably extend to a situation wherein there were twins, 
neither of whom would survive without intervention.  I am trying to think about this from a 
legal perspective.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Selective reduction is covered by the same clauses, however there is 
a subsection on the data collection form which asks whether an individual case was a selective 
reduction.  The problem is that selective reduction comes with a risk.  When one performs a 
selective reduction, it can cause the whole pregnancy to miscarry.  One ends up having a discus-
sion with the woman on which option presents the lower risk.  In a case where there is a baby 
who is very unlikely to survive and another who seems to be completely normal, and where it is 
unlikely that either will be born alive if the pregnancy is continued, a selective reduction could 
decrease the chance of the normal baby dying.  However, there will be as much as a 15% risk of 
miscarriage of the normal baby at the time the selective reduction is carried out.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: If people are having pregnancies later, is it likely that more 
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people will present with a need for------

Mr. Peter Thompson: Probably not.  It becomes more and more difficult to carry out selec-
tive reductions later on.  A high proportion of those pregnancies where a need is seen are also 
IVF pregnancies.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: On the 20-week scan that is offered to every pregnant wom-
an, does Mr. Thompson know what is the take-up rate?

Mr. Peter Thompson: It is almost 100%.  Very few people decline it, although many people 
attend with the impression that the scan is for the purpose of seeing the baby.  They are told 
beforehand that the purpose of the scan is to check on the baby’s growth and the fluid around it 
and to see if the baby has any structural differences.  It is difficult to know whether everybody 
understands that.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: On the categories laid out in the legislation, categories A to 
E, in hindsight, if the legislation was being written now, does Mr. Thompson think it would be 
written in the same way?  Does Mr. Thompson have any insights on aspects of the legislation 
which perhaps did not stand the test of time, for want of a better word?

Mr. Peter Thompson: The first iteration of this, in the Abortion Act 1967, used the term 
“viability”.  That was then changed in 1990.  It then effectively said that babies at more than 
28 weeks’ gestation were viable, but it did not say that babies under that limit were not.  That 
became an issue as survival rates for babies increased as time passed by.  It became more about 
a specific gestational age than about viability.  That is how it has changed.  There have been sev-
eral attempts to change it again through the UK Parliament, as I am sure the Deputy is aware, 
but none have been successful or supported.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: I thank Mr. Thompson.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Approximately how many abortions did Mr. Thompson carry out 
under clauses C and D in the days when he practiced gynaecology, as he put it?

Mr. Peter Thompson: I could not say.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Will Mr. Thompson please try to estimate?

Mr. Peter Thompson: No.

Chairman: The witness does not have to answer.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: If the Chair will excuse me, I know the rules.  I have asked my 
question and got my answer.  Could Mr. Thompson estimate approximately how many abor-
tions he has carried out under clause E?

Mr. Peter Thompson: I really would not be able to say.  It is a smallish number.  I do not 
know what the Senator would consider small, but-----

Senator  Rónán Mullen: What would Mr. Thompson consider a small number?

Deputy  Bríd Smith: On a point of order Chair, may I ask Senator Mullen to justify his line 
of questioning before he proceeds with it?  Mr. Thompson was not brought here to have his own 
career scrutinised.  He was brought here to give expert technical and medical evidence.
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Chairman: Senator Mullen may continue.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I thank the Chair.  I was fascinated by what Mr. Thompson had 
to say about seeking to distinguish between those children with Down’s syndrome with normal 
hearts, as he put it, and those with abnormal hearts.  May I tell him something about children 
with Down’s syndrome and their hearts as we experience it in Ireland?  Children with Down’s 
syndrome generally have very big hearts.  There are thousands and thousands of people in Ire-
land who will tell Mr. Thompson about the love those children have brought into their lives.  
They would tell him about how unexpected the outcome was in many cases and about how 
what seemed like a disaster when receiving the news turned out to be a situation which brought 
untold love into the house.  They would tell him how, far from causing mental health difficul-
ties, the situation brought out the best in people as they had to discover and develop their caring 
sides.  I remember a conversation I had with one very senior politician, who is still serving.  He 
said that the child in his family who had Down’s syndrome was the only one who really saw 
them all as equal and did not care about any of their achievements.  The child did not compare 
any of them with one other and just loved them all the same.

Does Mr. Thompson accept that thousands of people in Ireland, who are listening to these 
proceedings or who will hear about his words in the coming days, will be chilled to the mar-
row?  Does he accept that there are people who see that there are two lives to be cherished and 
protected in these situations?  Does he accept that there are those who would be horrified by 
the way Mr. Thompson talks about the paralysing of the child, or the foetus to use the clinical 
term, that he carries out as part of the foeticide procedure, or the way he suggests that the odd 
story of babies with cleft lips being aborted is something we should disregard, as though abor-
tion on such a trivial ground was just a small thing to be disregarded, a mere medical detail?  
Does he accept that he has an entirely different world view on this issue, perhaps from that of 
thousands of people in his own country but certainly from that of those who see two lives to be 
protected?  Perhaps the fact that he cannot even estimate the number of abortions he has carried 
out highlights that point.

Chairman: We will allow the witness to respond.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I accept that I have differing opinions on many aspects of life, not 
just this one, from those of other people.  I also accept there are many people who have children 
with Down’s syndrome who have brought much joy into their lives.  I do not believe that all 
children with Down’s syndrome should be terminated.  I do believe that women should have 
choices available to them in cases of serious and significant abnormalities.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: However, Mr. Thompson said that the foetus does not have rights 
in the UK.  He does not seem to have a problem with that.

Mr. Peter Thompson: That is the case in law.  I was just stating a fact.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Does Mr. Thompson have any ethical problem with that law?  He 
seems to be happy to act under it.

Chairman: The witness does not have to comment on that.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: He does not but I am still entitled to ask the question.

Chairman: I interject with many people on this committee.
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Senator  Rónán Mullen: We can talk about that again.

Chairman: No.  Excuse me.  Will Mr. Thompson please go ahead?

Mr. Peter Thompson: I am sorry.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I put it to the witness that he does not seem to have any ethical 
problem with the state of the law.  He seems to be quite happy to act under it.  May I put it 
another way?  I suggest that Mr. Thompson has become desensitised to the humanity of these 
unborn children as a result of complying with procedures, including late-term abortions.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I disagree.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Mr. Thompson adduced evidence regarding marital breakdown 
rates and the pressure involved and specifically mentioned trisomy 21, which is Down’s syn-
drome.  Is he not giving that evidence in order to make out a case that such children are more of 
a burden and, therefore, to somehow sanitise abortion on those grounds?

Chairman: There should only be one conversation in the room at any time.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: In our culture, there are conventions on the rights of people with 
disabilities.  Ireland has far more to do in that regard and many are concerned enough is not 
being done.  However, disability is here being presented as a ground for abortion.  Clearly, such 
people must be second-class citizens.  Does it not make a nonsense of having a convention on 
the rights of those with disabilities if disability is a special ground for abortion in the witness’s 
country and many others?

Mr. Peter Thompson: I brought up the concept of marital breakdown in certain conditions, 
as the Senator said.  I did so in response to a question I was asked.  Apart from that, I do not 
wish to respond.  I was asked to come here to explain how the United Kingdom system works 
and how Irish women access it and that is what I am trying to do.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I am trying to bring out how the United Kingdom system works 
and the impact it has on the medical profession, as well as on unborn children, of which every-
body is aware.

I wish to ask Mr. Thompson about foetal pain.  He referenced the document from the Royal 
College which suggests it is less likely that there is foetal pain.  It does not use the language of 
certainty.  If there is a possibility of foetal pain, what would be the consequences of a precau-
tionary use of anaesthetic, in particular in late-term abortions?

After 24 weeks, approximately what size is an unborn baby?  I am sure it varies but can Mr. 
Thompson give us a sense of the dimensions of an unborn baby at 24 weeks’ gestation?

Mr. Peter Thompson: As in-----

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Mr Thompson may use his hands to indicate if he wishes or he can 
tell us in inches or centimetres what size a baby is.  Many people discuss this issue as though it 
is mathematics but there are real-----

Chairman: Senator Mullen has the floor.  I ask for quietness in the room.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Approximately this size.
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Senator  Rónán Mullen: I ask the witness to demonstrate to those present and the televi-
sion cameras.

(Interruptions).

Chairman: The witness may answer the question in whatever manner he wishes.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I am uncertain as to the exact number of centimetres a 24-week 
foetus would measure.  If I were to say it is too small or otherwise, I might be misleading the 
committee.

Chairman: Mr. Thompson may communicate that to the committee if he has access to such 
information in order that he is happy he is providing accurate measurements.

Mr. Peter Thompson: The information will be easy to access and I will do so.

Chairman: I thank the witness.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: As Mr. Thompson said, he is not an expert on foetal pain.  He is 
not certain enough of the dimensions of a 24-week-old foetus to be able to guide the committee 
in-----

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: He is an expert.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Yet he put them through his hands, if I can use the expression.  I 
am trying to establish whether, in the context of foetal pain, he can be certain about that either.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: He is a medical expert.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: He said he is not an expert on foetal pain.  When Mr. Thompson 
carries out an ultrasound-guided abortion, what does he see?  I have never seen such a thing.  
When he gives an injection, does the unborn move in any way?  Is that indicative of feeling 
or any kind of awareness?  Is it merely the nervous system?  Can he give us an image of the 
procedure in that regard?

Mr. Peter Thompson: Babies move.  I refer to what the Royal College said.  Whether or 
not reflex movements are associated with pain depends on when the cortex forms.  Babies may 
move when any invasive procedure is carried out, whether that be to tap a baby’s pleural effu-
sion or to perform a foeticide.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Lest the Royal College be wrong, what are the consequences of 
precautionary pain relief?  The language the college uses is far from certain.

Mr. Peter Thompson: The Royal College is addressing the issue in the broadest concept 
whereby if one uses drugs in general, there are always risks to the mother as well as the foetus.  
It depends on what drugs are used.  People often-----

Chairman: I have to sum up the session.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I am finished.  In the words of the late Spike Milligan,------

Chairman: Senator has had more than double his allotted time.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: -----there is no Queen’s counsel to take their brief in any event.  I 
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thank the witness for answering my questions.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: Before the Chair moves on, I wish to place a point of clarifica-
tion on the record.  Senator Mullen said that Mr. Thompson has come here to make a case.  Mr. 
Thompson came to give evidence, not to make any case.  Perhaps I misheard Senator Mullen 
but that needs to be clarified.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I am happy to accept that clarification.  Not much rests on it but 
I am happy to accept the clarification that Mr. Thompson came to give evidence.  It was very 
illuminating evidence.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: I thank the witness for appearing before the committee.  
He has provided answers to many of my questions.  An Irish clinician who has dealt with wom-
en who travelled to the United Kingdom for abortions appeared before the committee.  For legal 
reasons, such doctors cannot refer the medical files of such women to a doctor in the United 
Kingdom.  That may give rise to difficulty in the case, for example, of a woman who is bipolar 
or on anti-psychotic medication.  What is Mr. Thompson’s professional expert view on the dif-
ficulties for a doctor in the United Kingdom in treating an Irish woman whose doctor could not 
refer the medical file and who may not bring or relay that critical information on her condition 
to clinicians in the United Kingdom?  I presume such information would have a huge impact on 
how she would be treated, dealt with and supported in the United Kingdom should she need a 
termination, such as in the case of a fatal foetal abnormality.  What problems does that pose for 
doctors in the United Kingdom?  The committee has heard from doctors working in Ireland who 
encounter a legal obstacle to referring medical files to treating doctors in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Peter Thompson: One of the problems relates to being able to know how people are 
behaving.  As I said, it is difficult to have an insight into how a person is behaving if he or she 
has a significant mental health disorder that nobody is divulging or can divulge.  That can put 
us in difficulties.  If a woman has a significant health problem, that can put us in other difficul-
ties and the woman in danger.  When under stress, people often do not reveal all of the issues 
they wish to communicate and do not tell us everything.  Sometimes I forget some of my health 
problems when asked about them.  It is quite difficult to go through those things.  Such people 
are in very stressful situations and I sometimes think we give them sub-optimal treatment be-
cause we do not have all the information we should.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: The legal implications in Ireland regarding referring medi-
cal files that prevent doctors being able to give the best medical information to a treating doctor 
in the United Kingdom for a woman who chooses------

Mr. Peter Thompson: It potentially puts the woman at risk.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: It puts the woman at risk.  I thank the witness.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I thank the witness for his presentation.  Most of the questions I 
intended to put have been asked.  On page 6 of his statement, Mr. Thompson mentioned that 
he would expect the number of requests for termination of pregnancies in cases of diagnosis of 
Down’s syndrome to be high and that that would not be representative of the population.  What 
does he mean by that?

Mr. Peter Thompson: There is the general population.  How screening works is explained 
properly to everybody.  We are just talking about screening for chromosomal abnormalities.  At 
this point, between 30% and 40% will say they are not interested and opt out immediately.
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The second step, so to speak, is that a risk is ascertained.  When people are informed of the 
risk and despite the first risk, some people will actually say they had the test because they just 
wanted it to be low in order to have some good news and reassure them.  Other people will view 
the risk they get as actually not very high anyway.  We have a cut-off risk of one in 150 at which 
we will offer invasive prenatal diagnosis.  Some people might view one in 140, for example, as 
a low risk and then not go on to have invasive prenatal diagnosis.

Those women who go on to have invasive prenatal diagnosis, which carries a risk of miscar-
riage meaning that for the first time they are doing something that carries a risk of miscarriage, 
are doing it for three main reasons: it would impact on how the baby would be managed after 
birth; some people feel that once they have been given this higher risk, they just have to know; 
and other people do so because they are going to act on the result.  A high proportion of people 
in the end, therefore, act on the result because they have been through several screening pro-
cesses beforehand whereas people who would not act on that result actually cannot get that far.  
I am not sure if I explained that properly to the Deputy.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: No.  I am afraid Mr. Thompson lost me there.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I could start with 100 women, all of whom have the same chance of 
having a baby with Down’s syndrome.  Of those, 40 just leave the room immediately and say, 
“I don’t want any testing”.  Of the remaining 60, ten come back as high risk.  Those women are 
all spoken to and offered an invasive test.  Seven of those might take it up and three will decline 
it because they will say, “Actually, I was going down this process, but now I have to take a risk 
and I’m not going to take a risk over my baby”.  If any of the seven who have the invasive test 
out of the original 100 are identified as having a baby with Down’s syndrome, a high proportion 
are likely to act on that information.  It depends on what proportion one takes.  Is it a percent-
age of the people who have the amniocentesis or is it a percentage of the general population?  
Therefore, that group is not representative of the general population.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Therefore page 6 shows the people who have come in and looked 
for the testing.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Yes.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Is that figure reflective of the affected pregnancies, the 76?

Mr. Peter Thompson: The affected pregnancies are all pregnancies; it is the general popu-
lation.  The figure of 67 is those detected by screening.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: All right.  Of them, 44 chose medical terminations.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Yes.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: There were six spontaneous terminations, miscarriages.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Those six could be from any group.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Absolutely.  There were 13 confirmed live births.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Yes.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I just wanted to understand how that was worked out.

Chairman: I call Senator Gavan.  If anyone else wants to come in, they need to indicate; 
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otherwise, Senator Gavan is last.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank Mr. Thompson for his presentation.  The committee has re-
ceived consistently high-quality presentations.  I was struck by the large number of facts and 
statistics.  It gives a very good insight into practice in Britain.  I thank him for that.

I am not sure if Mr. Thompson can comment on this, but I will ask anyway.  We have had 
medical professionals from Ireland and Britain, people whose job is to care for women and 
their babies.  They have been consistent - Mr. Thompson has been just as consistent today - in 
highlighting that we should trust medical professionals.  The witnesses from Ireland, including 
the masters from the Rotunda Hospital and the National Maternity Hospital, Holles Street, have 
been consistent in saying that the current laws are restrictive and a danger to women’s health.  
Why does Mr. Thompson believe that the medical professionals, the people whose jobs are to 
care for our loved ones, are so consistent in this message that the current set-up in Ireland does 
not work for women?

Mr. Peter Thompson: I know about two aspects of the current set-up in Ireland.  One aspect 
is from personal experience and women coming over to us.  The other is from my discussions 
with some of my colleagues here and how they have difficulty in interpreting the equivalent of 
our clause A when doing a termination of pregnancy when a woman’s life is at risk and how 
they feel that there is great danger.  The one thing that is similar is that it is a criminal offence 
in both countries at the moment if someone does not fulfil the law.  As I understand it, the dif-
ference is that here it is also a criminal offence for the woman, whereas in the UK it is just the 
doctor who commits the criminal offence.

It is likely that it will be decriminalised in the UK.  Certainly the Royal College of Obstetri-
cians and Gynaecologists has suggested it should be monitored, as other aspects of medicine 
are, by the General Medical Council.  A similar thing would be sensible here.

Deputy  Lisa Chambers: Most of the questions have already been asked.  I thank Mr. 
Thompson for attending to give evidence to the committee.  During the course of the commit-
tee’s work, I have been contacted by people on both sides of the debate and people in the middle 
of the debate.  Clearly, we do not have consensus in the country as to how we should proceed.  
While I have seen no medical evidence to support this, it has been suggested that somehow 
having a termination puts a woman at greater risk of breast cancer.  I do not know if any other 
members of the committee have been presented with this as though it is a fact.  I cannot find 
any medical evidence to that effect.  Has Mr. Thompson come across that?  I am conscious that 
as a Member of Parliament I am here to represent my constituency and all the different views 
and ask the questions that have been asked of me.  I am just asking that question as it has been 
presented to me.

If a child is born with a very severe or serious abnormality - whatever term one wants to 
use - does the child then experience pain having been delivered?  Is it Mr. Thompson’s medi-
cal view that it would be more humane not to deliver a child with serious difficulties or severe 
abnormalities?

Mr. Peter Thompson: There is more evidence on how the cortex develops post-delivery 
and how pain is perceived by a pre-term baby than there is on the foetus, and more conclusive 
evidence certainly.  The royal college document states that parallels should not be drawn be-
tween in utero and ex utero even if it is the same gestation.
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Regarding the link between termination of pregnancy and breast cancer, I think there is a 
stronger link with pregnancy, but I am not aware of it particularly being termination of pregnan-
cy.  I would be more than happy to check that for the Deputy and feed it back to the committee.

Chairman: I am not sure if Mr. Thompson is familiar with the report of the Citizens’ As-
sembly or if he has had an opportunity to read it.  The citizens voted on a variety of reasons.  
Reason 11 was that the unborn child has a significant foetal abnormality that is likely to result 
in death before or shortly after birth.  The Citizens’ Assembly favoured applying this only up to 
22 weeks of gestation.  This is an issue that the committee has to grapple with and I appreciate 
that Dr. Thompson has a different legal framework.  We are not commenting on that framework, 
good, bad or indifferent, but we must grapple with this issue.  Could Mr. Thompson comment 
on the workability of this?  Is it feasible?

Mr. Peter Thompson: It is certainly feasible that some women would undergo a termina-
tion of pregnancy on those grounds but if one were to rely on a 20-week scan, then a large pro-
portion of women would not do so.  For a certain number of women who get a diagnosis at 20 
weeks, there would be a rush to make a decision in the next two weeks.  The committee should 
bear in mind that if Ireland were to go down a similar path to the United Kingdom, parents 
would probably not get a confirmatory discussion until another week after the scan, leaving 
them feeling that if they do not make a decision within the next week, they may not get the op-
portunity to make a decision at all.  It is for the committee to decide whether that might force 
women one way or the other.

Chairman: We have not yet had much discussion at this committee about term limits.  Is 
talk of term limits in that way unhelpful to medical practitioners or by enshrining that in legisla-
tion?

Mr. Peter Thompson: The 22 weeks?

Chairman: Not necessarily 22 weeks.

Mr. Peter Thompson: Any number of weeks?

Chairman: Yes.

Mr. Peter Thompson: I think it is unhelpful in the concept of things like microcephaly, 
which cannot be diagnosed at that point.  It obviously depends on what Ireland as a country 
wants to achieve with regards to a percentage that will be detected and which abnormalities will 
be detected.

Chairman: I thank Dr. Thompson very much for his evidence here today, for carefully an-
swering all of our questions and for travelling over to us.  We really appreciate his attendance.

We will take a break for a few minutes.  I think we would rather continue and finish earlier 
today rather than taking a long break at this point, so we will just take five minutes for now.

  Sitting suspended at 3.53 p.m. and resumed at 4.03 p.m.

Ancillary Recommendations of the Citizens’ Assembly Report: Discussion

Chairman: The same rules as in our previous session apply as regards telephones.  I do not 
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think that with these particular witnesses I need to go through the Defamation Act 2009 and the 
attendant privilege issues, as they are familiar with those.  I welcome officials from the Depart-
ments of Education of Skills and Children and Youth Affairs, namely, Ms Olive McGovern, 
principal officer with the Department of Children and Youth Affairs and Mr. Eamonn Moran, 
principal officer at the curriculum and assessment policy unit; Ms Emer Egan, deputy chief 
inspector; Ms Amanda Geary, post-primary senior inspector; and Ms Clare Griffin, primary 
divisional inspector of the Department of Education and Skills.  The witnesses are all very wel-
come.  I invite Ms McGovern to make her opening statement.

Ms Olive McGovern: I thank the Chair for inviting me to attend this session of the Joint 
Committee on the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution.  I am standing in this afternoon for 
my principal officer colleague, Ms Clare McNamara, who cannot be here at short notice due to 
illness.  The committee has already received the submission of the Department.  This follows 
on from a letter of response from the Secretary General to the committee in which the ancil-
lary recommendation of the Citizens’ Assembly that falls within the remit of the Department of 
Children and Youth Affairs was addressed.

The Department of Children and Youth Affairs administers a range of funding schemes and 
programmes to support the provision of youth services to young people throughout the country, 
including those from disadvantaged communities.  There are approximately 1,600 youth groups 
and clubs across the country, with an estimated membership of 89,000 young people, in receipt 
of funding from the Department under the local youth club grant scheme.  The majority of these 
young people are in clubs affiliated to national youth organisations.  Local youth clubs, along 
with each national youth organisation in receipt of funding from the Department of Children 
and Youth Affairs, are expected to operate in accordance with the national youth strategy, which 
is a constituent strategy of Better Outcomes, Brighter Futures: the National Policy Framework 
for Children and Young People, BOBF.

The implementation of Better Outcomes, Brighter Futures: the National Policy Framework 
for Children and Young People has been ongoing across Government since its launch in April 
2014.  The national youth strategy, which was subsequently launched in October 2015, includes 
commitments identified by young people themselves.  It builds on the youth-specific policy 
commitments outlined in BOBF.  In line with current and emerging policy, the national youth 
strategy addresses the current socio-economic needs and aspirations of young people aged be-
tween ten and 24 years.

The implementation structures established by the Department under BOBF are overseeing 
the roll-out of the national youth strategy.  Youth clubs and services have a significant contribu-
tion to make to realise the goals of the national youth strategy, as part of a cross-sectoral whole-
of-society approach to supporting young people in their everyday lives.

One of the main objectives of the national youth strategy is for young people to enjoy a 
healthy lifestyle, in particular with regard to their physical, mental and sexual health and well-
being.  The Department also provides funding to the national youth health programme.  This 
is a partnership operated by the National Youth Council of Ireland, NYCI, in conjunction with 
the youth affairs unit of the Department of Children and Youth Affairs and the health promotion 
unit of the Health Service Executive.  In 2017 the Department allocated €86,952 to the NYCI 
to support the implementation of the national youth health programme.

The national youth health programme provides a broad-based and flexible health promo-
tion, education, support and training service to youth organisations and to all those working 



29 NOVEMBER 2017

33

with young people in out-of-school settings.  Through the national youth health programme, 
the NYCI has sought to develop the capacity of the youth sector and youth organisations to 
advocate on issues that affect young people and to develop evidence-based resources to sup-
port that work.  The health programme works with practitioners across the youth sector to build 
knowledge, skills and expertise on a range of health areas, including health promotion, mental 
health and sexual health.  This work is achieved through the development of a range of training 
and policy programmes.

Specifically with regard to sexual health and relationships, the national youth health pro-
gramme provides training to youth workers within organisations and aims to strengthen the or-
ganisational environment for the delivery of sexual health programmes.  The b4udecide training 
course is offered in conjunction with the HSE crisis pregnancy programme, and training and 
accompanying resources explore the concept of delaying early sexual activity among young 
people.  A follow-on course for youth workers to the b4udecide training, entitled “Developing 
a Sexual Health Policy – Good Practice in Sexual Health Promotion”, aims to strengthen the 
organisational environment for the delivery of sexual health programmes.

The Department is committed to delivering on both the commitments of the Better Out-
comes, Brighter Futures policy framework and those of the national youth strategy as they 
relate to prioritising the sexual health and well-being of children and young people.  The fund-
ing provided by the Department, in conjunction with that provided by the Departments of Edu-
cation and Skills and Health and the Health Service Executive supports young people around 
relationships and sexuality and provides access to timely and appropriate information. 

If members have any questions, I can provide more detail or other information they may 
want.

Chairman: Before we take questions, we will take the next speaker.  I invite Mr. Moran to 
make a presentation.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: I thank the committee for the opportunity to make this opening state-
ment.  The Department of Education and Skills welcomes the opportunity to address the an-
cillary recommendation of the Citizens’ Assembly relating to sexual health and relationship 
education, which states “Improvements should be made in sexual health and relationship edu-
cation, including the areas of contraception and consent, in primary and post-primary schools, 
colleges, youth clubs and other organisations involved in education and interactions with young 
people.”  The Department has already provided a written submission to the committee which 
sets out the current provision of sexual health and relationship education in the primary, post-
primary and higher-education sectors.  I propose, therefore, to make a short opening statement, 
although, along with my colleagues, I will be happy to engage with the committee during the 
subsequent discussion and address any of the items identified in either the opening statement 
or in our written submission.  The statement is organised in two parts: first, I will set out what 
is required of schools in the context of sexual health and relationship education, and how the 
Department supports schools to meet that requirement; and, second, I will describe briefly our 
monitoring of compliance, the outcomes of that monitoring and recent initiatives which can 
help and improve the quality of provision.

I will begin by outlining what we require schools to do.  Access to sexual and health edu-
cation is an important right for students.  Schools have a responsibility to provide for this, 
importantly, in consultation with parents and having regard to the ethos of the school.  Social, 
personal and health education, SPHE, is a mandatory curriculum subject in all primary schools 
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and in post-primary up to the end of the junior cycle.  Relationships and sexuality education, 
RSE, is required at all levels, from primary to senior cycle.  The Department has set out the 
content for each of these programmes in SPHE and RSE syllabuses and guidelines, as well as 
in other support material.

The primary level SPHE curriculum currently used in schools was published in 1999.  Its 
purpose is to foster the personal development, health and well-being of the individual child, 
to help him or her create and maintain supportive relationships and to enable children make 
safe and healthy decisions now and in the future.  At post-primary level, the SPHE curriculum 
framework for junior cycle was published in 2000.  It provides students with the opportunity to 
develop the skills and competence to take care of themselves and others and to make informed 
decisions about their health, personal lives and social development.

RSE is not taught as a distinct programme or subject in primary schools or in junior cycle.  
Instead, it forms an integral part of the SPHE curriculum at both levels.  At senior cycle, a 
school’s RSE programme may be taught as a distinct programme or delivered in the context of 
an SPHE programme or another subject, such as religious education, biology, science or home 
economics.  Primary schools are also required to fully implement the Stay Safe programme, 
which addresses physical, emotional and sexual abuse.  It aims to increase resilience by giving 
children knowledge, skills and strategies in an age-appropriate manner, which is an important 
precursor to understanding the concept of consent in an adult sexual relationship when they get 
older.

All schools are required to have an RSE policy that is developed in consultation with the 
school community, including management, parents, teachers and students, as appropriate.  A 
school’s programme for relationship and sexuality education is developed and taught in the 
context of its RSE policy.  It is important to note that the ethos of a school should never pre-
clude learners from acquiring the knowledge about the issues, but ethos may influence how that 
content is treated.

Contraception or issues relating to consent are not explicitly mentioned in the primary 
SPHE curriculum or in the RSE programme.  The focus is on developing assertive skills, per-
sonal self-efficacy and an understanding how one’s body works.  This lays the foundation for 
later discussion of specific issues in a manner appropriate to the developmental stage of the 
pupils.  At post-primary level, schools are required to teach all aspects of the RSE programme, 
including family planning, sexually transmitted infections and sexual orientation.  Elements of 
the programme cannot be omitted on the grounds of school ethos.  However, all aspects of the 
programme can and should be taught within the ethos and value system of a school as expressed 
in its written RSE policy.

It should be noted that, under legislation, the higher-education institutions are autonomous 
bodies and the Department does not prescribe a programme in RSE at this level.  The majority 
of higher-education institutions provide students with information on sexual health and addi-
tional links to further information and support on relationships, sexual education and mental 
health issues.  Information is provided by both the institutions’ student’s unions and student 
services medical centres.  Several higher-education institutions also provide classes in sexual 
consent, giving students the opportunity to talk about positive forms of sexual communication.

I will now discuss the ways in which the Department supports schools in meeting their 
requirements in respect of RSE and SPHE.  A range of actions have been taken by the Depart-
ment to support the implementation of SPHE and RSE.  The Department has published policy 
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guidelines for relationships and sexuality education to support schools in developing RSE pol-
icy.  These provide clear guidance on engaging with the school community and on sharing the 
school’s policy on RSE, recognising that a partnership approach to RSE helps to ensure that 
children are provided with a consistent experience and are able to make connections between 
life at home, in the school and in the community.  This is considered to be a very important 
requirement.  Sample templates for RSE policies are provided for schools to consider when 
drafting their own policies.

An RSE support service and a separate SPHE support service are available to schools.  An 
extensive programme of continuing professional development, CPD, opportunities has been 
provided to support teachers in the implementation of RSE and SPHE programmes in post-pri-
mary schools.  Over several years, the Department and the support services have also developed 
a wide range of teaching materials, particularly in the area of RSE.  This work has been done in 
partnership with other Departments and agencies, including the HSE, the Gay and Lesbian Edu-
cation Network, GLEN, and the crisis pregnancy programme.  It should be noted that schools 
have discretion regarding the resources that they use to teach SPHE and RSE, and that these are 
used in accordance with the school’s policy.

I will now move on to the second part of the statement, which addresses the ways that the 
Department monitors compliance in this area.  It is the responsibility of a school’s board of 
management to ensure that RSE is taught in the school.  The inspectorate conducts robust qual-
ity assurance of provision in SPHE and RSE through its programme of inspection in schools.  
Inspectors ensure: that the school timetable includes time for SPHE and RSE; that the RSE 
policy has been developed; that broad and balanced coverage of the SPHE and RSE curriculum 
is evident in school planning; and, in focused evaluations of SPHE and RSE lessons, that stu-
dents are achieving the intended outcomes of the curriculum.  During all whole-school evalua-
tions, school management is required to confirm that the full Stay Safe programme, SPHE cur-
riculum and RSE are being provided.  Where there is evidence that provision is unsatisfactory, 
recommendations for improvement are made.  In those cases where there is no or inadequate 
implementation of the SPHE and RSE curriculum, the inspectorate conducts a range of follow-
through actions until such time as the relevant school is regarded as being compliant with the 
requirements in this area.

Through the monitoring of compliance, we have found that, in general, schools are positive-
ly disposed to providing good quality SPHE and RSE, and we have noted the prevalence of a 
positive classroom and whole-school atmosphere.  Systematic engagement by school managers 
and teachers with SPHE and RSE continuous development activities has been shown to have a 
positive impact on the quality of programme delivery.  However, there are some challenges to 
achieving high quality in that provision which are common across primary and post-primary 
levels.  In some schools, the development of an RSE policy has not been achieved and there 
is insufficient engagement with parents on the policy and programme in the school.  However, 
as was mentioned in the written submission to the committee, our lifeskills survey indicates 
that almost all schools actually have written RSE policies in place and the remainder are in the 
process of developing these.  Furthermore, we know that there are issues relating to the compe-
tence and confidence of teachers regarding the delivery of RSE.

I will now outline recent initiatives which will support high-quality provision of services 
in this area.  The Department is developing a policy on well-being which will be published in 
early 2018.  The policy, which will cover both primary and post-primary schools, will set out a 
number of actions which will enhance the physical, mental, emotional and social well-being of 
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students and enable them to build life skills.  The policy will include actions to support schools 
and teachers to deliver high-quality learning experiences so that students acquire an appropriate 
knowledge and understanding of human relationships and sexuality. 

Another important development is the introduction of a new area of learning called Well-
being, and I apologise for the confusing terminology due to the use of a capital “W”, which is 
part of the new framework for junior cycle.  Social, personal and health education, SPHE, and 
relationships and sexuality education, RSE, are integral parts of the new Wellbeing programme 
at junior cycle.  They provide opportunities for teaching and learning directly related to well-
being, not least the capacity to develop and maintain healthy relationships.  Wellbeing guide-
lines developed by the National Council for Curriculum and Assessment, NCCA, have been 
published and training has already commenced for school leaders to assist them in developing a 
well-being programme.  It is important to emphasise that the Wellbeing programme is a whole-
of-school programme and is not just for specific individual teachers.

It is envisaged that the SPHE curriculum, including RSE, at primary level will undergo a 
review by the NCCA in the coming years, as part of its ongoing review of all the curriculum ar-
eas, with which the committee members will doubtless be familiar.  A review of the curriculum 
at senior cycle is also under way, again led by the NCCA.  The SPHE and RSE programmes at 
that level will be considered.

These reviews will include the views of all the education partners, recent research outcomes, 
societal and cultural changes and all the relevant polices and teaching materials that have been 
disseminated to schools since the SPHE and RSE curricula were first introduced, including 
material produced by entities other than our own Department, including our colleagues in the 
Department of Children and Youth Affairs, the HSE and other partners that operate in this area.  
It is not possible to determine exactly what the review will conclude in terms of curriculum con-
tent.  The process will be very comprehensive and all views and suggestions will be considered.

I thank the Chairperson for the opportunity to make an opening statement.  My colleagues 
and I look forward to our discussions.

Chairman: I thank Ms McGovern and Mr. Moran for their presentations.  We will now 
move on to questions from members.  I call Deputy Louise O’Reilly and she has six minutes.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I thank the witnesses for sharing their experiences and informa-
tion with us.

It is fair to say, and I will not give away my age, that the curriculum has moved on since I 
attended school.  That is a good thing but we have a little further to go.  I listened to the pre-
sentations and I was startled to learn that sometimes RSE takes place during religion classes.  
I wish to refer to a newspaper article that was published in 2014 where it was highlighted that 
schools used external agencies.  As Mr. Moran mentioned, not all teachers are skilled enough 
to teach these classes.  Does the Department have oversight in cases where external agencies 
are used?  Is it left to the board of management to provide oversight?  I ask because when I at-
tended school there were organisations that would have been more comfortable teaching RSE 
such as Pure in Heart Ireland.  Do some schools still use textbooks that exclusively focus on 
heterosexual relationships or abstinence from sex until marriage?

I am curious about the external agencies.  Is there a register and regulations for external 
agencies?  We have had discussions at this committee and the Oireachtas Joint Committee on 
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Health about rogue agencies offering women counselling, a term I use advisedly.  Can the use of 
external agencies be regulated?  Is it simply a matter for the boards of management to decide? 

Ms McGovern mentioned that the Department of Children and Youth Affairs allocated 
€86,952 to the National Youth Council of Ireland to support the implementation of the national 
youth health programme.  To me, that sounds like an astonishingly small amount of money and 
is a loaves and fishes job.  Will she give us a breakdown of the budget and outline what could 
be done if more money were allocated?

Mr. Eamonn Moran: I thank the Deputy for her questions.  I will answer one of her ques-
tions and another question is for my colleague in the Department of Children and Youth Affairs.

I mentioned in my opening statement that the RSE may be taught as a distinct programme 
or delivered in the context of an SPHE programme or in another subject.  I also gave examples, 
including religious education.  There is a requirement that all schools ensure that all students 
get the RSE programme, unless parents have requested that their children do not receive an  
element of the programme.  There is a requirement in junior cycle to have a minimum number 
of RSE classes per week and to have between five and six classes per year in senior cycle.  The 
schools will be required to ensure that all of their pupils receive RSE.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Mr. Moran has referred to the RSE as if it is a standardised pro-
gramme.  I am sure that it contains standardised elements.  Can the RSE course be tweaked to 
suit the ethos of an individual school?  There may be people teaching abstinence until marriage.  
That might conform with the ethos of the school but I cannot imagine it will confirm with what 
is contained in the programme.  I am referring to the grey area where a board of management 
may have stepped in and taken control.  Is there a standardised form of RSE?  Is there a mecha-
nism by which there is a contradiction between the ethos of a school and what represents good 
practice?  I refer to cases where good practice takes precedence over the ethos of the school.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: It is important to make the point that schools are required to teach all 
aspects of the RSE programme, including family planning, information on sexually transmitted 
infections and information on sexual orientation.  Elements of the programme cover the issues 
of contraception and consent.  As I said in my presentation:

Elements of the programme cannot be omitted on the grounds of school ethos.  How-
ever, all aspects of the programme can and should be taught within the ethos and value 
system of a school.

For example, schools are required to teach the elements of the programme that relate to 
contraception.  However, the schools, depending on their ethos might say, for example, in the 
context of the Catholic Church, we have a particular view on contraception.  It is important 
for me to point out that there is a requirement for all elements of the programme to be deliv-
ered in the schools.

The Deputy mentioned external agencies so I ask my colleague, Ms Egan, to answer her 
questions.

Ms Emer Egan: We provide very clear guidance to schools on the engagement of outside 
speakers and, indeed, on the use of resources.  We promote that the teaching of all elements of 
RSE and SPHE take place within the context of a policy that is determined at school level.  We 
provide very clear guidance on how that policy should be developed.  It should be a collabora-
tive process between all members of the school community - the board of management, the 
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parents, the teachers and the students, depending on their age.  That policy should explore all of 
the issues associated with the teaching of RSE in the schools.

Where an outside speaker is engaged by a school, he or she should be engaged in the con-
text of delivering a planned and comprehensive programme in the school.  He or she should not 
be brought in to replace the school programme but to enhance it.  It is the responsibility of the 
school to ensure that outside speakers are aware of the school policy on RSE and child protec-
tion and their input should be delivered in that context.  No rogue organisation at variance with 
a school’s policy should deliver a programme in the school.  We recommend and provide guid-
ance that the class teacher should always be present in the class in order that he or she is aware 
of what is being delivered and will know if any aspect of school policy has been breached and 
needs to be addressed.  We advise that material used by outside speakers should be checked in 
advance to ensure that it is in line with school policy and should be available to parents.  Par-
ents should be informed if an external speaker is engaged.  Programmes delivered by visitors or 
external agencies must use appropriate evidence-based methodologies with clear educational 
outcomes.  We have provided very clear guidance to schools on how to use external agencies.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: My question was specifically in regard to accreditation.  There is 
no list of approved third parties or agencies.  I could set up an agency in the morning and once 
I tick the boxes, I could deliver a programme with my own slant on it to schools, albeit within 
the very broad parameters Ms Egan outlined.  There is no regulation or accreditation that could 
be used to prevent this.

Chairman: That will be Deputy O’Reilly’s final question as she has exceeded her allotted 
time.

Ms Emer Egan: There is no regulation of such agencies.  If an agency has an approach in-
consistent with good educational practice and at variance with the policy of a school, the school 
should not engage it.

Chairman: I thank Ms Egan.  Has the Department received any complaints regarding rogue 
agencies delivering programmes in schools?

Mr. Eamonn Moran: Not of which I am aware.  However, in the curriculum and assess-
ment policy section we receive queries from schools regarding offers made by various agencies 
to deliver various elements of the curriculum and not just those relating to RSE and SPHE.  
There are so many such agencies that the Department is not logistically able to endorse or check 
all of their offerings.  However, we counsel schools to make inquiries with such agencies as 
to the quality and nature of the product they propose to deliver and also to establish whether 
other schools have engaged with the agencies.  As I mentioned briefly in my opening statement, 
a school’s written RSE policy is developed in conjunction with school leadership, teachers, 
parents, students and the wider school community.  There is a very extensive engagement by 
the school system in respect of setting out the RSE policy and that level of broad expertise is 
also brought to bear in determining the nature of the programme to be delivered and the policy 
regarding the engagement of external entities.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Moran.  Does Ms McGovern wish to comment?

Ms Olive McGovern: Overall Department funding for the National Youth Council of Ire-
land, NYCI, in 2017 was €594,000.  In addition, we fund three specific programmes on health, 
child protection and the arts.  The arts and health programmes are delivered in partnership with 
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the Arts Council and the HSE, respectively.  Through that spine funding, the health programme 
then accesses additional funding from a range of agencies.  The total budget for the health 
programme is, therefore, far more substantial than the contributions of the Department and the 
HSE.  Additional funding in respect of sexual health is provided by the crisis pregnancy pro-
gramme and by the National Office for Suicide Prevention in respect of mental health.  Smok-
ing prevention work is funded by the Irish Cancer Society.  There is a hybrid funding mix for 
the health programme anchored within the NYCI, which receives substantial funding from the 
Department.  Our contribution is only part of the total available to the organisation.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I thank the witnesses for attending.  As regards policy, when the wit-
nesses from the curriculum unit are designing guidelines for education for young people, such 
as in respect of sex and reproductive health education - the areas of particular interest for the 
committee - do they consider models from other countries, particularly those in Europe?  Can 
they comment on evidence presented last week to the committee regarding sexual education 
recently being made compulsory from the age of ten in the Netherlands?  A corollary of that was 
a reduction of one third in teenage pregnancies between 2012, when it was made compulsory, 
and 2016.  I ask the witnesses to comment on that.

My other question is similar to that of Deputy O’Reilly regarding the use of outside agen-
cies.  Senator Ruane was feeling unwell and went home.  Her daughter attends a school in Tal-
laght in which sex education is delivered by an outside agency named Accord, which is affili-
ated to the Catholic church.  Senator Ruane has removed her daughter from that class because 
she has serious issues with that agency and its affiliation.  The Department’s proposals repeat-
edly state that the ethos of a school may be taken into consideration.  The ethos of school is very 
much a framework for how this is delivered.  The ethos of the school has to be managed within 
the school framework, involving all agencies, including the board of management.  Some 94% 
of  boards of management of national schools in this country contain leading local members of 
the Catholic church or are controlled by the Catholic church.  Do the witnesses consider there 
to be an obstacle to progressing the process of dealing with teenage pregnancy and sex educa-
tion in order to prevent as many crisis pregnancies and to get on with the business of educating 
a future generation in a full and wholesome way about reproductive health and helping them to 
live their lives in a way that prevents the outcomes of crisis pregnancies such as, for example, 
the increased use of the abortion pill?  Do the witnesses think that it would be of assistance to 
remove the framework of Catholic ethos from national schools?  I am not suggesting that the 
church should be moved to Mars or some such place but, rather, that the ethos of Catholicism 
should be removed from the delivery of sexual health programmes in schools.  The latter might 
have long-term positive outcomes, particularly for young girls.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: I thank Deputy Bríd Smith for her questions.  I will take the question 
on the process of developing guidelines and Ms Egan will address the query regarding external 
agencies and ethos.  As regards guidelines, I do not know the full details of the Dutch experi-
ence of making sex education compulsory.  However, as members are aware, in making policy 
decisions on curriculum content, the Department is advised in the first instance by the NCCA.  
A very significant element of the policy development process of the NCCA is a consultative 
process engaging with all the players in the field, including students, parents, educators, school 
leaders and other agencies active in the particular curriculum area, including teachers’ profes-
sional bodies.

I am aware from the work we are doing with the NCCA relating to the revision of the prima-
ry language curriculum and the senior cycle curriculum that it also has extensive engagement 
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in carrying out international research and seeking to identify best practice in Europe and else-
where.  For example, with regard to the current review of the senior cycle curriculum, which 
would include a review of SPHE and RSE, the first part of that work has been a research phase 
examining the curriculum provision in approximately a dozen countries, both in Europe and 
further afield, to identify what does and does not work in those areas.  It is important to point 
out that what works in one country does not automatically work in another and the particular 
circumstances of the country must be taken into account.  The policy advice that is received by 
the Minister and the Department from the NCCA would have been through a very extensive 
consultation process and would be informed by the views of all the players in a particular area.

On the distinction between the programme of SPHE and RSE that is delivered in schools 
and the issue of the Catholic ethos, as I said in the opening statement and in response to the 
first question from Deputy O’Reilly, all schools are required to deliver the SPHE and RSE pro-
gramme.  The Department and the inspectorate would be concerned if, when the inspectorate 
visits schools, the programme is not being delivered.  My inspector colleagues can comment 
further on that, but the feedback from the inspectorate’s visits to schools is that the programme 
is being delivered in full.  There are some cases where the RSE policy needs to be finalised but 
the programme is delivered in full.  That is an important point.

Ms Emer Egan: Our education system is a State aided system and a range of patron bodies 
run the schools.  They are facilitated to run their schools in accordance with their ethos.  That 
is enshrined in legislation.  In implementing an RSE programme in schools we are very clear 
that the schools must implement the programme that is laid out.  They must cover the themes 
outlined for primary and post-primary levels.  We clearly state that ethos cannot be used as an 
argument for omitting elements of the programme.

We expect that a school will deliver a programme using a variety of materials and resources 
and possibly external agencies.  However, we would not expect that an external agency would 
take over the delivery of the programme in a school.  RSE is not taught only during a class in 
curriculum time.  The values inherent in an RSE programme, which is about developing chil-
dren’s understanding of good and healthy relationships, are something the children would also 
experience through the way in which the school is organised.  RSE takes place in curriculum 
time but the climate and culture of the school also support it.  As the ethos of schools can differ 
the schools are enabled to take account of their ethos in how the RSE programme is delivered, 
but they must first ensure that they cover the content and do not leave out areas of knowledge.  
They may follow up with how that might be considered in the context of the particular ethos of 
the school but they must teach what is in the framework curriculum.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: There are ten modules in the RSE programme: belonging and integra-
tion; self-management - a sense of purpose; communications skills; physical health; friendship; 
relationships and sexual education; emotional health; influences and decisions; substance use 
and personal safety.  Which of those could contain differences of ethos?  Can there be a different 
ethos in respect of communications or self-management or is it just in sexual education?

Ms Emer Egan: That is an issue where it would be up to the individual school to determine 
the school policy.  If members of the school community who are part of that policy development 
programme identify an issue under any of these headings which they believe requires clarifica-
tion on how it might be taught, it is the role of that policy development group to be very clear 
on what, if any, ethos issue impinges upon any of these areas.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I have a final question.  Would any or all of the witnesses say that 
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there is good sex education at primary or post-primary level in this country?

Ms Emer Egan: We have made a great deal of progress over the last 20 years.  We have 
some very good provision in many schools.  Amanda Geary can speak about the SPHE review 
we carried out in post-primary schools.

Ms Amanda Geary: In 2013 we compiled a composite report based on approximately 60 
schools.  We looked at the quality of provision for SPHE, and that included RSE.  That compos-
ite report is entitled “Looking at Social, Personal and Health Education”.  It yielded very posi-
tive findings relating to provision and a number of other themes.  The main outcome of the re-
port indicated to us that we have high quality provision and delivery of SPHE and RSE overall.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: It is not specifically about sex education.

Ms Amanda Geary: SPHE includes sex education.  RSE is the sex education component 
of the SPHE programme.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank the witnesses for their presentations.  I am convinced that 
education in this area has come a long way since I was in school.  I recall my sex education class 
really consisting of one word, “No”.

That said, I see a contradiction in the idea that the Department will roll out this quite pro-
gressive education programme and at same time say that it can be taught within a particular 
ethos.  We know what the problem is - the vast majority of our schools are still under Catholic 
control.  That means young people are being told they can do something, but then they are im-
mediately told that it is wrong.  That is not the Department’s fault but it is a glaring problem 
that we as elected representatives must deal with.  Would the witnesses accept that, in reality, 
people are getting different types of education depending on the type of school they attend?  
Notwithstanding the fact that this set information must be given, the context is everything.  That 
is a real concern.

I have some other questions, although I am conscious of having only six minutes.

Chairman: You are always well within the time, Senator.

Senator  Paul Gavan: Thank you.  Younger colleagues of mine were genuinely interested 
in this paper.  Some of them only finished school a few years ago and they say, “Look, it sounds 
great but we never got it”.  Will the witnesses comment on that?  Has there been a significant 
take-up in the last number of years?  The people I am referring to would have finished school at 
some time between 2006 and 2012.  They say that they never saw it.

With regard to the review being conducted, the witness said that in some schools the de-
velopment of RSE policy has not been achieved.  Are there any indicators or commonalities in 
that regard?  Is it related to the size of the schools, the ethos of the schools or the location of the 
schools?  Are there any commonalities such as that?

The well-being programme sounds like a good idea.  How quickly can that be rolled out and 
does the Department have the resources it needs to roll it out?

Mr. Eamonn Moran: I will start with the last question.  There are two elements to the well-
being programme.  One is the newly rolled out junior cycle well-being area of learning which 
covers SPHE, CSPE and PE.  Some other elements could also be included.  This was rolled 
out to schools from September 2017 and will be reported on in the students’ new junior cycle 
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profile of achievement from June 2020.  It is an exciting new area.  Our junior cycle for teach-
ers’ continuous professional development, CPD, team has a particular well-being programme 
going out to schools to assist them in rolling out the programme.  We are committing significant 
CPD resources to ensuring that the programme is rolled out well.  I will make a point that might 
address one of the issues Senator Gavan has.  An underlying emphasis of the well-being pro-
gramme is that well-being is a whole-of-school activity, so it is not the case that when someone 
goes to a school and asks where he or she can learn about well-being, he or she is told to go to 
the guidance counsellor or the science teacher.  The idea of the well-being programme is that 
it is a whole-of-school approach.  All teachers are responsible for well-being in school, so one 
avoids a situation whereby in a specific well-being or guidance class the student is told about 
one set of issues regarding well-being and then goes into another class and sees no evidence of 
those issues in that class.  All teachers are involved in the delivery of well-being.  Well-being 
with a small W, which is the programme the Minister is seeking to roll out across primary and 
post-primary, essentially seeks to ensure that across the whole school system well-being is 
taught in an integrated way.  The junior cycle framework is further down that road, but I think 
the Minister is keen to ensure that the lessons we have learned from the development of the 
junior cycle well-being programme can be spread across the whole school system.

Concerns have been expressed that as one goes into senior cycle and the leaving certificate 
heaves into view, the time spent on such areas decreases.  Junior cycle teachers and those in-
volved in delivering the well-being programme are typically also teachers at senior cycle level.  
Pending the delivery of the well-being programme for the whole school system, we know that 
the roll-out of the well-being programme in junior cycle will also assist in ensuring that well-
being is embodied at senior cycle.  Senator Gavan made the point about students saying they 
never received this education.  I have spoken about this only within the past two days to my 
own two daughters, who are in their 20s now.  They went to the same school.  One said they 
never got it and the other said they got it in spades.  I would make two points in this regard.  
First, it could be the case that different teachers might choose to deliver the SPHE and RSE 
programmes in different ways.  In addition, depending on the ages or level of maturity of the 
individual students, they can receive this learning in different ways.  It might only hit home with 
them at a later stage.

This brings me to another point I will make before I hand over to my colleague, Ms Egan, 
for any comments she may have.  I made a point in the opening statement about age-appro-
priateness.  We are asked why we do not teach primary school children about contraception 
and why we do not catch this at the very start of the schooling system.  In developing the pro-
grammes for SPHE and RSE, the Department is guided by the requirement to ensure that this 
programme provision is delivered in an age-appropriate manner.  We need to be careful that we 
do not hit students with something they are too young to understand and that they do not go 
away more confused about information we try to provide to them than before.  Therefore, while 
some observers might consider that we should be teaching this in a more direct way at an earlier 
stage, there is a balance to be found between getting children at a young stage and confusing 
them with issues.

This brings me to the final point I will make on this issue.  We have made the point very 
strongly that the provision particularly of SPHE and RSE is a partnership between the school 
and the parents.  It should be remembered that the schoolteacher is delivering a programme to 
perhaps 15 or 20 pupils in a class and therefore needs to pitch the delivery of the programme 
at a certain level.  As a parent of a child, I may have been involved with the school in develop-
ing in some cases the RSE policy.  When I go to the school to determine whether I will put my 
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child into the school, I will have been given sight of that school’s RSE policy so I can decide 
whether the approach and the ethos underlying the provision of that policy is consistent with my 
expectations.  Furthermore, when I see the layout of the programme and how it is proposed to 
be taught in the school, I can also decide from the home perspective, the parental perspective, 
to provide the input from the home and parental side of things to ensure that what the child is 
being taught in school is mirrored and tracked by what is being provided at home.  This ensures 
consistency of messages between both education forums, and the parent might feel his or her 
child is at a certain stage at which the parent can perhaps supplement in a more direct way the 
information being provided in the school.  I would emphasise the partnership approach between 
both the school and the parents regarding the provision of education in this area.

Chairman: Senator Gavan’s time is up, unless there is something that the witnesses feel 
needs to be said in response to his comments.

Ms Emer Egan: All I will say is that over the years we have as a Department on a number of 
occasions articulated to schools their responsibilities in the area of RSE and have continued to 
develop the curricula.  We also monitor implementation in schools and offer advice to schools 
on how to improve their provision, so our engagement with schools in that area is an ongo-
ing process.  Yes, there is provision for school ethos to have an influence but most of the RSE 
programme is about helping children to develop their relationships with others, to get to know 
themselves and how their bodies work and to develop their self-worth and self-efficacy.  No 
matter the stage at which one is in a school and no matter where the school is, these elements 
are really good educational outcomes to try to achieve.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank the witnesses.  I will finish with just one comment.  I do not 
think we will have the type of relationships and sexuality education we need until we have a 
democratic, secular system of education in this country.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I thank all the witnesses for their attendance.  I am very con-
cerned about some of the evidence I have heard today, and many of the previous speakers have 
spoken well about it.  I am concerned that it is down to the ethos of the school to frame sex 
education.  Mr. Moran spoke about age-appropriate education.  Deputy Bríd Smith spoke about 
the Dutch system.  In Holland this education starts at four, when children discuss their bodies.  
It moves on to respect and attraction at seven and same-sex attraction between eight and nine 
years of age.  Between ten and 11 years of age they speak about changes during puberty, love, 
dating and men and women in the media.  They deal with this in Holland from four years of age.  
It is not standardised across the Netherlands but it is exceptionally comprehensive.  According 
to the Catholic ethos when it comes to contraception, condoms are still not allowed as a means 
of birth control under Catholic teaching.  I am concerned that the rhythm method or the with-
drawal method or abstinence is being taught to children in this State.  My understanding is that 
90% of schools in this country are under the Catholic ethos, so I am not sure how we square that 
circle.  I think Deputy Bríd Smith’s final question to Ms Egan was whether she was happy with 
our sex education in this country.  She never actually said she was.  It is very clear to me that 
we have serious issues here when it comes to sex education under the Catholic ethos.  I know 
the bishop withdrew his comments but a cleric in this country recently spoke about teenagers 
engaging in pure and chaste lives.  I am not sure what sort of teenagers he is dealing with but his 
comments concerned the HPV vaccine and a rather ignorant link between it and sexual activity.  
Has the Department done any work on the promotion of the HPV vaccine, which can eradicate 
cancer?  I am concerned about how all these things feed into educating our children and about 
this opposing view.  If the Catholic Church does not teach that barrier contraceptives are a good 
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thing, and if HPV vaccination is not promoted very well, I would be very concerned about 
how we are delivering sex education.  Various states in the US have different approaches to sex 
education.  The basic statistics show that in states where sex education focuses on abstinence 
there is a higher rate of teenage pregnancies than in states where there is a more comprehensive 
approach.  In New Mexico, where abstinence is taught, there are 90 teenage pregnancies per 
1,000 teenagers aged 15 to 19, whereas in New Hampshire, where the education regime is not 
based on abstinence, the rate is 30 per 1,000.  All of this feeds into the question of whether sex 
education in this country is fit for purpose.  I believe that if it is being influenced by the ethos of 
the school to this degree, we cannot sit here today and say it is working.  Somebody answered 
that there had been no complaints.  I am always concerned when there are no complaints or 
concerns raised about an approach to something.  

I am very concerned about what Deputy Bríd Smith mentioned about Accord being used 
as a sort of subcontractor in schools.  I am really concerned about what our young people are 
being exposed to in terms of the approach to teaching sex education.  One of the key things we 
learnt from the witnesses from the Netherlands who came before the committee last week was 
that country had destigmatised and taken a non-moralistic approach to sex education, which 
ultimately led to a reduction in teenage pregnancies.  It also led to Dutch teenagers tending to 
have their first sexual experience later in their teenage years than their European counterparts.  
They generally report it as having been a positive and fun experience.  This non-moralistic ap-
proach has worked in the Netherlands.  I do not want to bring up the sexologists from last week 
again but this approach seems to deliver better outcomes.  I am really concerned that if we are 
somehow being caught by this idea of ethos then we will not be serving our young people.  Does 
Ms Egan think that we should have a standardised approach?  Should we forgot ethos and try to 
deal with our children and young people in a way which separates the moral from the medical?  
Does Ms Egan have any concerns in light of what we have heard about the current system today 
and in light of everyone’s questions and answers in that regard?

Chairman: The Deputy has not allowed a lot of time for answers.  Will Ms Egan please be 
as brief as possible?  The points are well made and valid.

Ms Emer Egan: The Deputy asked if we considered Ireland to have a standardised ap-
proach.  We do.  We have a curriculum which we expect to be delivered across the board from 
junior infants right up to leaving certificate.  There is a standardised approach.  We very clearly 
tell schools that elements of the programme cannot be omitted on the grounds of ethos.  We 
have a system, however, which allows the ethos of the school to influence what happens in a 
school.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I understand that we have a standardised approach but that the 
ethos has influence, because I heard all of what Ms Egan said.  However, if the ethos of the 
school is Catholic, and the Catholic Church teaches that barrier contraceptives are wrong and 
that abstinence is the way forward, surely there is a contradiction.

Ms Emer Egan: In our view if contraception is being taught, all elements of how contra-
ception can take place should be taught.  When drawing up its policy the school decides how 
much further to go in terms of its ethos and how the teachings of that faith should have influ-
ence.  That is the system we have.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Does Ms Egan think it is right though?  Does she think it is the 
correct system for the children of this country?
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Ms Emer Egan: That is not for me to say.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Who should answer that question?

Ms Emer Egan: It is a legislative matter.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Does Ms Egan think the system is fit for purpose?

Ms Emer Egan: I think that our relationships and sexuality education, RSE, programme 
for primary and post-primary schools is absolutely fit for purpose in that it is primarily about 
helping children to acquire knowledge and understanding and to develop attitudes, beliefs and 
values about their sexual identities, relationships and intimacy.  The programme fully facilitates 
that.  It is a fact within our system that ethos will influence how the programme will be taught 
in a given school.  In drawing up the policy on RSE at the level of the individual school, there is 
plenty of scope for all views within the school community to be thrashed out and for decisions 
to be made on how a particular issue is to be dealt with.

Chairman: I have a question following on from that.  It might appear facetious, but I do 
not mean it to be.  When I was in school I was shown a video by the nuns.  I would like to think 
that we have moved on from that.  I am not in school and I do not have children so I do not 
know what is being taught in schools.  I am interested to know what is being taught to children 
in practice.  Could Ms Egan give me a brief summary?

Ms Emer Egan: Ms Griffin might be able to outline some examples of the themes which 
are visited.

Ms Clare Griffin: The social, personal and health education, SPHE, curriculum is taught 
on a mandatory basis at primary and up to junior cycle.  Commencing in junior infants, the 
children learn through a number of strand units.  The children are taught certain themes, vo-
cabulary and language relevant to this discussion on a spiral basis, year after year, every week.  
The programme runs across themes such as “Taking care of my body”, “Growing and chang-
ing”, “Safety and protection”, “Making decisions”, “Myself and my family”, “My friends and 
other people”, and “Relating to others”.  It is a foundational approach.  It sets the foundation 
for themes and topics which the children will explore at a more advanced level in an age-
appropriate manner as needs arise.  We also have to ensure that what the children are learning 
is relevant to the stage of life they are at.  At certain stages it will be very important for them to 
understand that their bodies are changing, for example, puberty is explored at the senior level 
of primary school.  That is the learning they need at that time and it is age-appropriate to them.

Chairman: Is it in any way consultative with parents?  Obviously parents are integrally 
involved with the education of their children.

Ms Clare Griffin: Yes.  What I have just described is from the SPHE curriculum frame-
work, which is the mandatory framework at all levels in primary school.  Those themes are 
always explored.  In the context of RSE, the RSE policy determines certain topics, which will 
also be delivered.  That is where there is a lot of consultation with parents.  We are satisfied that 
parents are getting involved in drawing up the policy.  Of course, we would like to encourage 
further involvement because we know that the joint approach is most effective.

Chairman: It is a difficult area to tackle.  It is very challenging.

Ms Clare Griffin: It is.  It is a challenging area for schools.  Alongside the mandatory SPHE 
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curriculum which runs from infants to sixth class and then up to junior cycle, there is also the 
Stay Safe programme at primary level.  That has been a mandatory programme since 2011.  It 
is specific to the prevention of child abuse.  It covers certain topics such as “Feeling Safe and 
Unsafe”, “Friendship and Bullying”, “Touches”, “Secrets and Telling” and “Strangers”.  All of 
these topics are addressed in an age-appropriate manner in a way which is relevant to the chil-
dren and which will not frighten them.  Again it lays the groundwork for looking at consent at 
a later stage but it also looks at understanding appropriate boundaries and touches and builds 
the children’s confidence to tell and to say “no”.  All of those issues are dealt with through the 
mandatory Stay Safe programme, which runs from infants to sixth class.

Chairman: My introductory question was whether the witnesses are satisfied that sex edu-
cation has moved on since I was in school.

Ms Clare Griffin: We feel that we have a very comprehensive programme in place.

Chairman: Has it moved on very significantly?

Ms Clare Griffin: It has.  We are also constantly updating with new resources.  I will give 
the committee one concrete example of that.  The Lockers resource was produced recently.  It 
speaks specifically to non-consensual sharing of sexual images online.  That is something that 
has only become a relevant issue for our young people in recent years so we are at-----

Chairman: The witness is actually answering my next question.  We have had a lot of 
experts in here to discuss the Citizens’ Assembly recommendations.  Practically all referred to 
the need for enhanced sexual education as a way of addressing and reducing crisis pregnancies.  
Children do a lot online and many nearly live online, which is regrettable.  Most are on social 
media.  It is an evolving medium and something that children are nearly ahead of us on.  Is that 
something that the witnesses are considering in their policies?

Ms Clare Griffin: The resources and supports are there if the schools decide that is an issue 
that needs to be addressed with their cohort of pupils.  There is school autonomy and a require-
ment for schools to respond to the needs of their children as manifested in the school context 
itself.  Those supports are there.  Alongside that, there is a good level of CPD provided which 
will inform schools about the different resources and guide them as they determine what spe-
cific issues need to be addressed with their pupils.

Chairman: Many specific issues coming up in this committee will need to be referred to 
other committees.  We will not be able to deal with all of them in our report and that is certainly 
an area that I would be keen to see addressed.  I apologise to members: I do not normally ask 
questions in the middle of a meeting.  I got a bit carried away.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I note the Chair was shown a video when she was at school.  I 
can assure her that in my time in school, videos were banned, they did not exist and even certain 
films were, at the very best, of dubious benefit to all ages.

Chairman: We have significantly moved on from the Deputy’s time I hope.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: We will not go there.  I am conscious of that.  I do have a 
particular interest in this subject because I have put down numerous parliamentary questions 
on the subject, as some of our guests will know.  We have had information that children did 
not seem to have a proper sex education in school.  That is a bland statement that may be right 
or it may be wrong.  I got an email or text from somebody, and we have to take these things as 
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they are, to the effect that a 14 year old child who had been raped did not do anything about it, 
did not know what the consequences were and did not have a conversation with her parents.  
The parents need to be involved in the programme of sex education in schools as well.  The 
Well-Being programme is welcome.  It needs to be comprehensive.  It needs to identify all the 
potential threats to the child.  The child needs to be protected.  We have had enough incidents 
in this country over the past number of years, and in many other countries, where there is “traf-
ficking”, for want of a better description.  The grooming of children is quite evident and is a 
serious threat to their well-being.

The next part is how to get the information to children.  I see nothing wrong with the system 
as the witnesses present it, as long as it gets to children and their parents.  If it does not get to 
parents as well, then it is a waste of time.  The child will go home from school and ask the par-
ents, who may not be receptive to adding to it.  It should include parents.  We are a multicultural 
society now so the ethos is not as important as it was.  However, it is important that we get the 
message across to parents regardless of background and ethos.  We need to put special emphasis 
on that.

I got a shock a couple of years ago when I put down a question in relation to children who 
were bullied in school and abused through the Internet and social media.  It is horrific.  Particu-
larly horrific is the number of children who self-harmed or attempted self-harm as a result of 
that kind of activity in their schools.  There were repeated attempts at self-harm which meant 
that the abuse was still going on.  I remember that the ages were between ten and 14 which is re-
ally alarming.  That cohort of children in that age group needs to be concentrated on particularly 
in order to identify what the threats are, whether via the Internet, social media or predators.  It 
is a huge issue that needs to be dealt with.  The child needs to know, boys and girls, what the 
threat is and if there is a threat.  That is not to create suspicion of society but to have a genuine 
knowledge of what is required in order for them to become balanced citizens.

In relation to youth services, if we can talk about this as well, I want to compliment in 
particular-----

Chairman: Can the Deputy ask a question please?

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: It is a question.  I am not waiting for conformation of that.

Chairman: No, the Deputy is almost out of time.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: What way would the chair like me to ask the question?

Chairman: The Deputy’s points are well made.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I expect a response.

Chairman: We take a response.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: There may be other questions on youth services.  In relation to the 
role of parents and the Deputy’s strong view that parents must be involved, that desirability un-
derpins our whole approach to the provision of SPHE and RSE in schools.  It relates to both the 
development of the RSE statement by the school and the engagement with parents.  It underpins 
the information provided at all stages of the curriculum regarding how parents can provide ad-
ditional and complementary material as they see fit to their children.  The RSE policy in school 
is developed in conjunction with parents.
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In relation to whether we are sure we are providing sex education in the proper way, the 
RSE policy for the school needs to set out the rationale for the provision of RSE in the school.  
This must refer to the context and ethos of the school, the aims of RSE and, critically, details of 
how the programme will be delivered in the school.  When the RSE policy is being agreed with 
parents, they will be able to see how the programme will be delivered and by whom, the particu-
lar modules that will be delivered, the role of the principal, the creation of a supportive school 
climate and culture, the consultation process with parents, parents’ associations and students, 
the resources for RSE, the training for RSE and how the policy will be reviewed.

In relation to the review issue, the schools inspectorate, as part of its whole school evalu-
ations, examine the provision of SPHE and RSE in schools.  The inspectors report their find-
ings and make recommendations for improvements in schools.  In schools that do not have an 
RSE policy in place or where part of the RSE and SPHE curriculum are not being taught, the 
inspectorate will make recommendations as to how they should be taught.  Follow up visits to 
the schools will ensure that those recommendations are implemented.

On bullying in schools, the Department has developed a number of anti-bullying policies.  
I say a number because those policies have had to be updated to take account of the increasing 
use of social media and the presence on social media of nearly all of our school children.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Is that being done currently?

Mr. Eamonn Moran: It is being done.  Guidelines are being provided both by the Depart-
ment and other agencies in relation to online bullying also.  That has to be done in partnership 
with parents because the reality is that the children are in school from about 8.30 a.m. to 4.30 
p.m.  The role of the school will go so far in ensuring students know what is appropriate and 
inappropriate when inputting and receiving social media content in this area.  However, we 
need to work closely with our parents to ensure that outside of school hours parents have agreed 
guidelines in place with their children in relation to their safe use of the Internet.  We work with 
parents to ensure that outside of school hours they have agreed guidelines in place with their 
children in regard to their use of the Internet and the safe use of the Internet.  In so far as is pos-
sible, the provision of those guidelines to students forms part of our programmes.

Chairman: Deputy Durkan may only seek clarification on an issue as his time has expired.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Just because I was deprived of a video in my youth does not 
mean I should l not ask another question.

Chairman: It is a timing issue.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I will be brief.  The next phase is the youth services phase.  
We need to be conscious of the importance of it also.  We need to ensure the our young people 
are positively influenced and that they are not hanging around corners with nothing to do.  I 
compliment the witnesses on the work they are doing in this regard already.  We need to be 
introducing new programmes annually to ensure that the people for whom these services are 
provided are conscious and aware of them.

Chairman: Thank you, Deputy.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: The Citizens’ Assembly made a specific recommendation on 
this particular aspect.  The points made today by the witnesses were well made.  Much of the 
expertise shared with the committee on this issue indicates how important this area is.
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The Stay Safe Programme was introduced following reports of appalling child abuse.  It 
came directly out of a religious ethos and a group of people who were trusted but whom it was 
found could not be trusted.  I accept the point on the need for programmes to be age specific 
but I do not think we have moved on in so far as that ethos is still getting in the way of delivery 
of sex education.  Delivery in this regard is very contained.  Sex education should be about not 
only pregnancy and disease but about inculcating positive attitudes in people.

The witnesses have told us that they have studied the research in other countries but that 
research does not matter if schools do not have the ability to deliver programmes without the in-
terference of an ethos in that delivery.  We have an unusually high rate of religious patronage of 
schools.  We should be looking to the best outcomes and experiences in other countries in terms 
of well-rounded individuals who have a good understanding of issues, do not run with the herd 
and are independent.  We heard earlier that for some people sex education was a great experi-
ence and for others it was a terrible experience.  The experience was hit and miss, depending on 
the teacher delivering the programme.

In regard to sex education, a life survey undertaken by the Department of Education and 
Skills in 2015 found that 48% of primary and 55% of secondary schools indicated that they 
relied to some extent on external agencies.  The external agencies aspect is incredibly impor-
tant.  There must be some degree of understanding of who those agencies are in terms of ethos.  
Based on the aforementioned figures, there is a very high level of intervention.  The Depart-
ment is getting very good evidence from other countries, on the basis of which the NCCA sets 
the curriculum, but it has no control over how this programme is delivered.  How then can the 
witnesses say that there is good-quality sex education?  In my view, this programme needs to 
be something different in many different environments such that it is not possible to say it is a 
uniform programme across the education system.

Ms Emer Egan: On the issue of the external agencies, there may have been a high pro-
portion of schools that engaged external agencies but that may have been for only one or two 
sessions.  In the lifetime of the primary or post-primary school there are SPHE or RSE lessons 
delivered throughout each year of the programme.  In some cases, schools might value the as-
sistance of an external agency on issues they consider to be sensitive for them to deal with.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: It would depend on the external agency.

Ms Emer Egan: Yes.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: It does depend on the external agency.  We heard from Sena-
tor Ruane about an agency with a religious ethos.  Does the Department intervene in regard to 
the appropriateness of an agency to deliver this programme, to ensure it is similarly delivered 
across the school system?

Ms Emer Egan: We expect that schools will deliver the programme as it is outlined.  Un-
derpinning the SPHE and RSE programmes is a desire to develop children’s life skills and their 
resilience and ability to evaluate the wide range of information and opinions coming at them 
all of the time.  We do this in two ways.  First, there are themes that are revisited from junior 
infants to leaving certificate and themes that are revisited at an age appropriate level.  Second, 
the types of engagement with students during RSE and SPHE lessons is an experiential learning 
programme where they are presented with scenarios where they can identify what the issues 
are and how they might be dealt with.  It is a very life-enhancing programme that has wonder-
ful benefits for children.  There are resources available to support schools in delivering those 
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programmes.  It is the case that a school must make decisions about the resources available 
to it but there are excellent resources available to enable schools deliver the curriculum in the 
broadest way.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: There is an ethos-----

Ms Emer Egan: Yes, there is.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: -----that varies, depending on where the education is being 
delivered such that a similar programme is not being delivered in every case.  A school might 
have a good quality curriculum, but if it is delivered in a way that is biased or with an attitude 
or ethos that colours it, then there is a problem.

Ms Emer Egan: Circular 37/2010 specifically states that elements of the programme cannot 
be omitted on the grounds of school ethos.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I thank the witnesses for their presentations.  The witnesses are 
before us today in the context of the Citizens’ Assembly recommendations and the recom-
mendations which we, as a committee, will make to the Dáil in regard to repeal of the eighth 
amendment.  Based on all that I have heard today, I am very concerned.  First, am I correct that 
the role of the officials here today is that of policymaker in education?

Mr. Eamonn Moran: I represent the curriculum and assessment policy unit.  I should make 
the point that educational policy is determined by the Minister.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Okay.  I have found everything said today extremely good from a 
parent’s point of view and a child’s point of view.  That said, I have some concerns.  Who drafts 
the curriculum for science, technology, engineering and mathematics, STEM?  We are looking 
at changing how we do business in Ireland if this referendum is to be put to the people, but from 
an educational point of view are our young people prepared to deal with those changes?  We are 
talking from the two sides of our mouths.  We have policy but no implementation.  If we have 
implementation we can tone it up or tone it down, depending on who we are dealing with.  I 
need to know what is the position regarding this policy in respect of the two forms of education, 
social personal and health education, SPHE, and relationship and sexuality education, RSE, 
when it is brought into schools and who is accountable.  

I will not lecture but I have a few questions.  The witnesses have outlined how post-primary 
schools are required to teach all aspects of an RSE programme, including family planning, 
sexually transmitted infections and sexual orientations.  Schools cannot leave out any part of 
the programme but can teach the programme within the school’s ethos and value system.  How 
do schools balance what may be a conflict with school ethos with delivering relationships and 
sexuality education programmes which fully inform young people?  Ms Egan used the word 
“recommends” earlier, and she can understand the question I have asked.  What happens when 
schools do not fully implement or provide social personal health education and relationship and 
sexual education?  Are there any repercussions?  Are parents and students made aware of the 
shortcomings?  Is there a mandatory requirement for teachers to engage in continuous profes-
sional development on the SPHE and the RSE or is the training a once off?  

It was mentioned that some third level institutions provide information around sexual com-
munications and consent.  To what degree are the issues of healthy sexual relationships and 
consent a part of the post-primary curriculum?  It is a challenge for some parents and teachers 
to discuss relationships and sexual health with their children or students.  They themselves 
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may not have grown up in an environment where those issues were openly discussed.  While 
the Chair at least had the video, some people did not even have that.  What resources are being 
made available to parents?

I read Ms McGovern’s presentation and listened to her.  At no stage were children in care 
addressed.  Coming from the Department of Children and Youth Affairs I imagined it would be 
mentioned.  I had brought up the issue of children in care over the last number of meetings but 
how we engage with those children was not addressed.  They have been looking for booklets, 
not just on sexual education.  We need booklets for children in care.  How are we going to let 
them know how they can reach out for help when they are in a bad position?

The Department of Children and Youth Affairs has provided funding of €89,000, but the 
overall budget, including the HSE and education funding, comes to over €500,000.  When I 
divide that out over the clubs, the 1,600 youth groups, that works out at €327 per grouping.  Can 
the witnesses explain to me how that reaches the groups?  

Chairman: Brevity is the order of the day.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: I thank Deputy Rabbitte.

Chairman: In fairness to Deputy Rabbitte she is on the Committee for Children and Youth 
Affairs and is a very active member.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I have waited weeks for this.

Chairman: I will allow her some leniency because I know that.  I am on that committee 
with her.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: My colleague, Ms Amanda Geary, might speak later about the pro-
vision of SPHE and RSE at post-primary level.  On the development of policy, the National 
Council for Curriculum and Assessment, NCCA, advises the Department and the Minister on 
curriculum policy in schools.  We get policy advice in the form of draft curriculum specifica-
tion for all of our curriculums from the NCCA, including science, technology, engineering 
and mathematics, STEM, SPHE and RSE.  The NCCA represents almost all of the education 
partners, including parents, school leaders, schools and teachers.  The policy advice that goes 
to the Minister is agreed by the NCCA council.  The Minister will ultimately decide whether 
to approve the curriculum specification.  The same policy would apply for SPHE as for STEM 
subjects.  That is the process.

I make the point that the initial NCCA process is representative of all the players involved 
in this area.  Ultimately, the Minister is the person who approves policy in that area.  

The Deputy asked what happens if a school is not providing a particular element of the 
curriculum.  In this particular case she refers to SPHE and RSE.  My inspector colleagues can 
speak further on this as they wish, but I mentioned the inspection regime in the schools.  When 
inspections are performed, the inspectors will seek to ensure that SPHE and RSE curriculum is 
being delivered in the school as per specification.  Interestingly, the inspectorate reports have 
noted a number of positives in this area.  Perhaps this harks back to points made earlier by other 
Deputies and Senators.  There is a positive school and classroom climate for supporting the 
teaching of SPHE and RSE.  There is recognition now that it is a whole-school responsibility 
rather than the responsibility of an individual person.  Things have moved on in that area.  The 
schools where SPHE and RSE are more successfully implemented make more effective use of 
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teaching methodologies and resources provided for SPHE and RSE.  

My colleagues from the inspectorate mentioned the curriculum resources that are developed 
by our professional development services by teachers, PDST, and by a number of other Depart-
ments and areas active in this field.  

Chairman: I ask for quiet in the room.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: This includes the use of programmes that complement the SPHE and 
RSE curriculum, such as the Stay Safe, Walk Tall and Busy Bodies programmes.  On the other 
hand, in schools where an RSE policy is not in place, there is a need for the inspector to ensure 
that policy is put in place and is informed by the guidelines for developing an RSE policy.  In 
some cases it is necessary to provide clarity about what is taught at each level of the curricu-
lum and to ensure that there is balanced learning at each level.  There is a need to ensure that 
in addition to having an RSE policy in place in the school, the school leadership monitors the 
implementation of that policy.  Having the policy and curriculum in place must be monitored 
by ensuring that the policy is effectively implemented.  The inspectors will have a role in the 
schools when they perform their visits, but it is the day-to-day role of the school leadership and 
the board of management which will ensure that the policy is implemented in the school.

The generation of home-school links, particularly when sensitive issues on the curriculum 
are being taught, is essential.  It is important that parents have close involvement in and are 
aware of what is taught in the RSE and SPHE curriculum and that they are updated during the 
year in order that they know at what stage of the year different aspects of that curriculum will 
be taught.  That is what comes out of the inspectorate regime.  

I will ask my colleague, Ms Amanda Geary, to speak about the post-primary area and ad-
dress some of the queries raised by the Deputy. 

Chairman: How many schools do not have an RSE policy?  I apologise to Deputy Rabbitte 
for interjecting.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: A very small number have no RSE policy.  It is approximately 1% or 
2%.  The life skills survey in 2015 showed that 99% of primary schools have a policy or are in 
the process of finalising it.  In post-primary schools it is 98%.  On the 1% in primary and 2% in 
post-primary, the inspectorate will ensure that policy is put in place.

Chairman: It is important to know that it is a very small percentage and to clarify the lan-
guage that was used.

Ms Amanda Geary: It is important to mention that schools take their duty of care towards 
their students very seriously across the whole curriculum, including the area of SPHE and RSE.  
There is a requirement, under child protection, that all primary and post-primary schools must 
have an SPHE and a comprehensive RSE programme in place.  If the inspectorate finds that a 
school does not have that in place, we will draw the attention of the school to the child protec-
tion circular and guidelines and tell it that because the programmes are not in place, it is not 
fully compliant.  No school wants to find itself in a position where it is deemed in a published 
report to be non-compliant with child protection procedures and guidelines.  It is rare, as my 
colleague stated, that we come across a school that is not implementing a relationships and 
sexuality education, RSE, programme.

To come to the second question on whether the topic of consent is dealt with, we have a 
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comprehensive programme for SPHE and RSE.  By the end of the three years of junior cycle 
and the two years at senor cycle, it is very clear that there is a Department expectation of where 
students and schools will be at in terms of the learning outcomes.  However, the school has 
absolute autonomy to determine when it delivers on each topic and how much time it provides 
to deliver on each topic.  For instance, if a school believes it is extremely important to deal 
with the topic of consent mid-way through first year or at the end of first or second year, that 
decision rests purely with the school.  It determines when and how much time it spends on any 
particular topic.

It was mentioned earlier that, by their nature, SPHE and RSE lessons are interactive and that 
the students bring their own needs to the discussion.  Frequently, there will be an SPHE plan in 
place, developed by the school and which follows the curriculum guidelines but it will be and 
is frequently adapted to match the needs of the students.  If an issue arises in a particular class 
group, the SPHE programme will be amended to address that need.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: The reason I asked that question was because Dr. Geoffrey Shan-
non came before the Oireachtas children’s committee recently.  The discussion was on cyber 
safety but it was also to do with children not understanding the roles and responsibilities around 
consent.  I did not find the presentation very clear on that.  I saw it for third level students.  I 
would not expect to see it for primary level students but for post-primary I would need to have 
seen a clearer understanding around the issue of consent.  I am labouring the point on consent 
because for schools that have a particular ethos or boards of management that are governing it 
or whoever signs off on the policy, the education around consent is very important.  I want to 
know if that is delivered in junior or senior cycle or at what stage is it delivered.

Ms Amanda Geary: It depends on the need and the context of the school.  To answer the 
Deputy’s question, it can be done in junior cycle.  More often than not it is done in junior cycle.  
It could be in second or in third year but the key point to make is that it is dealt with and deliv-
ered as part of the SPHE-RSE programme.

Chairman: We will have to move on to the next question.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: What does Ms Geary mean by the need and the context of the 
school?

Ms Amanda Geary: It could be the context of the students within the particular school.  
The context of the students will vary from school to school but to come back to my original 
point, at the end of the three years of the junior cycle or the two years of the senior cycle, the 
same programmes and outcomes are expected to be delivered.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: Is Ms Geary saying that some schools may not teach it until 
the students are 16 or 17 and some schools may teach it when they are 12 or 13?

Ms Amanda Geary: It might happen but experience would lead me to say that, more often, 
it is happening in the junior cycle.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: Many questions have been asked but I would like to bring Ms 
McGovern back into the conversation.  The interactive point Ms Geary mentioned is important 
and is one that has not been raised until now.  In the more informal settings the youth service 
would be dealing with I imagine there is much more of an opportunity for young people to talk 
about the complexities of the issues and decisions facing them in their personal lives.  The pro-
grammes they are delivering are probably very effective but how widespread is their reach?  I 
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will also ask some education questions.

Ms Olive McGovern: I will answer that question in two parts.  The total funding for youth 
sector provision in 2017, to answer Deputy Rabbitte’s question partially also, is €57.4 million.  
The €600,000 I referred to is just the National Youth Council’s budget.

In terms of the reach, there are approximately 400 targeted projects in the country along 
with 1,700 youth clubs.  Broadly, that is the reach.  We recently completed a map of them and 
they are in every part of the country but it is important to understand that participation in the 
youth sector is a voluntary piece so there is no mandatory aspect of that for young people.

In terms of the curriculum, I do not believe it is at huge variance to what is in the education 
sector curriculum.  This year the curriculum content has been revised and updated built on the 
latest evidence base, which is a constantly evolving evidence base.  There are eight components 
to the curriculum that are part of the resource available to those who are working in either a 
professional or a voluntary capacity in any of those 400 projects or the 1,600 clubs.

In terms of participation in the training, and I got some data in preparation for today from 
my colleagues, in 2017 alone, 68 people participated in the policy training and 33 organisations.  
We have 150 or 180 legal entities involved in this so in this year alone the figures are 68 and 
33.  I reviewed last year’s data and the figure is in the mid-70s for both training programmes.  
They have an additional training programme this year in regard to pornography that they are 
offering of which there is some uptake.  Individual organisations send their staff or their volun-
teers through to the training programmes but the training programmes have been in place for a 
number of years.  I just got the data on the last two years for this input this evening but I could 
get the data for previous years if members wish.  I am confident in saying that there is provision 
across the country but the difference is that it is a voluntary provision for young people.

I will add to that so the Deputy has the full information.  In this year, for the first time, 
the Department has included funding for SpunOut.ie, which is an online youth information 
resource.  Through our youth information centre grant fund and our youth services grant fund, 
in a combination of both funds, SpunOut.ie will receive €200,000 per annum for this year and 
next year in an effort to try to respond to the fact that many young people are now getting their 
information online.  That is a development that has taken place this year for us.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: I do not want to repeat a question that may have been asked earli-
er but regarding education, my real concern, which goes back to the interactive point, is that the 
quality of the teaching will be crucial in this and whether the person delivering the programmes 
can engage with young people in a real way and not preach at them.  I want to ask a question 
specifically to do with qualifications.  Is there a formal accreditation and recognition for SPHE-
RSE teachers?  Does every school have a designated SPHE-RSE co-ordinator?  In other words, 
is there that professionalism?

The third point is that we hear about these outside bodies coming in.  Do they have to be 
professionally trained?  If one is presenting a curriculum in any other subject one must be ap-
propriately trained and educated, have had CPD or whatever.  I ask the Department about that 
because I believe the time has come not to allow outside groups to come in unless they are 
appropriately trained to deal with the delicate issues around young people’s sexuality and the 
ability to communicate with young people.

Ms Emer Egan: In providing guidelines to schools on the engagement of outside speakers 
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we say that programmes should be delivered by visitors and that external agencies should use 
appropriate and evidence based methodologies with clear educational outcomes so therefore 
they should be in tune with the needs of students within schools.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: They do not need to have a teaching qualification.

Ms Emer Egan: They do not have to have a teaching qualification currently.

On the training and provision of teachers, one cannot be recognised by the Teaching Council 
of Ireland as a teacher of SPHE and there is no undergraduate course in SPHE but many of the 
teachers who are involved in SPHE will have access to training programmes, primarily through 
our professional development service for teachers.  In the past, our National Educational Psy-
chological Service would have put in place substantial training programmes for teachers and 
they provided a foundation for much of the early implementation of SPHE and RSE in schools.

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: I refer to the well-being programme.  I presume it must be accred-
ited in terms of the junior cycle report that they will be getting at the end of the cycle.  Presum-
ably, there is CPD for teachers delivering that programme.

Ms Emer Egan: That has already started with the school leaders and will be rolled out.  
Over the past number of years, a very significant number of primary and post-primary teachers 
have engaged with the Professional Development Service for Teachers on the RSE element of 
the curriculum.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I thank the witnesses for coming before the committee today.  
I think all of us agree that we need fewer abortions.  This is why I am so eager to see proper 
discussion on positive alternatives.  I already highlighted the need for this committee to address 
adoption as a life-saving alternative to abortion because I think this is something that has been 
unfairly ignored and many couples have suffered as a result.  Does the Department propose to 
include looking at the whole area of adoption?  Many couples need to adopt so there is a pro-
posal to educate students on adoption.  Does the Department have any proposals for streamlin-
ing this process?

Chairman: That is probably a matter for the Department of Health, representatives of which 
will appear before us today.  If the witnesses from the Department of Education and Skills wish 
to make a brief comment, they may do so.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: I would defer to the Department of Health on this issue.  I am not 
aware of the Deputy’s information in this area.

Chairman: The Deputy could ask representatives from the Department of Health tomor-
row.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Given that the Department of Education and Skills is looking at 
relationships education and mental health, these are surely affected by the failure to be able to 
have a baby naturally or to adopt it, so is it reasonable to ask what the Department of Education 
and Skills is proposing to do to teach students how adoption is a positive alternative to abor-
tion?  That is where I am coming from.  Adoption would be a positive element.

Ms Emer Egan: There are elements of the programme that would be focused on families 
and the different kinds of families that we have.  That could lead to a discussion about families 
with adopted children but it is in that context that we would currently address the issue of adop-
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tion.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: The reason I am asking Ms Egan is because the Department 
educates a lot of students.  What I am trying to say is that adoption would be a good and safe 
alternative.  I cannot understand why the Department has not put forward adoption.  To me, it 
is a good proposal.  Why is it not there?  Will it be there going forward?

Mr. Eamonn Moran: With regard to the general issue of what we may call crisis pregnan-
cies, in addition to teaching the SPHE-RSE curriculum, the Department would also refer pupils 
to the range of services that are available to provide assistance to students and parents when 
dealing with the issue of crisis pregnancies.  Agencies that operate in the adoption area would 
presumably be among those agencies.  We have a range of bodies that we would advise students 
about when we are dealing with the issue of crisis pregnancies, so in that context, adoption 
would certainly be considered as one of the services provided by those agencies.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: When we are talking about abortion, we are talking about the 
ending of a baby’s life.  We saw earlier today that more than 190,000 babies lose their lives 
through abortion every year in the UK.  In the context of relationship education, are students 
taught about the development of the baby in the womb?  For example, are they taught that the 
baby’s heart starts beating at just three weeks in the womb?

Ms Emer Egan: They would be taught about how the baby grows and develops.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: In fairness, they are taught about contraceptives and I think it 
is very important that they actually know the facts, such as the fact that the baby’s heart starts 
beating after three weeks, in order that they are educated about that.  Will the witnesses elabo-
rate on that?

Mr. Eamonn Moran: My colleague already mentioned that in respect of the topics taught 
in the RSE programme provided at primary level, there are two strands entitled Myself and 
Myself and Others.  The options include self-identity, growing and changing, birth and new 
life, personal safety, feelings and emotions, relating to others and making decisions, and aware-
ness of changes in the human life cycle.  At post-primary level, the programme covers three 
themes: human growth and development, human sexuality and human relationships, covering 
areas such as puberty, sexual organs, adolescence, feelings and emotions, personal safety, the 
implications of sexual activity, conception, pregnancy and birth-----

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: That is a very-----

Mr. Eamonn Moran: -----and the understanding of pregnancy and the development of the 
foetus.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: That is one of the best answers I have received so far since I 
joined this committee.  It is so important that we educate our children and students.  Will the 
Department have a look at adoption?  It is very important.  The Department has a massive catch-
ment area and I think it is a preference instead of having an abortion.  I thank the witnesses.

Chairman: Deputies Fitzpatrick and Rabbitte highlighted the fact that a lot of time needs to 
be spent in other committees in the areas of health and education as well as in the Committee on 
Children and Youth Affairs following on from this committee .  Clearly, part of our report will 
have to refer some matters.  Obviously, it is not within our remit and we do not have the time 
to do it but we could spend days discussing what we are discussing here today.  Am I right in 
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saying that the curriculum was last updated in 1999?

Ms Emer Egan: The primary curriculum was updated in 1999.

Chairman: That clearly needs to be updated.  That is nearly 20 years ago.  A lot has changed 
in this country in 20 years.  Not much has changed in terms of the realities of sex and all of that, 
but the fact is that we need to revisit that.  Perhaps it is something that needs to be gone through 
because primary school is the only show in town when it comes to sex education as far as I am 
concerned.  In respect of the time when students get to secondary school, things have changed 
a lot since I was that age, not that I am ancient.  That is just a statement.

Mr. Eamonn Moran: In respect of the curriculum material dating from 1999, I said earlier 
that the NCCA is in the process of reviewing the primary curriculum.  However, it also needs 
to be stated, and this is particularly important in the case of SPHE and RSE,  the teaching and 
learning in schools are not based exclusively on the 1999 curriculum.  The 1999 curriculum 
sets out some fundamental underpinnings, but as both my primary and post-primary inspector-
ate colleagues advised, a mass of supporting material has been provided and continues to be 
provided.

Chairman: It is like legislation written in the 1800s being updated a few times since.  In 
some instances, it could do with being revisited.  I think that is a fair comment 20 years later on 
this topic in this country.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: Following on from the Chairman’s comments, my point 
relates to teacher training colleges.  What is the training with regard to sex education in the col-
leges when a teacher embarks on his or her training in university?  Will the witnesses expand 
on what they are told to teach and how to go about it?  I imagine that for many teachers, it could 
be a very difficult subject to broach with their students.  From a primary school perspective, 
it obviously needs to be age-appropriate and we understand that, but how are teachers trained 
with regard to teaching sex education?

Chairman: As a teacher, Deputy Naughton knows that herself.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: I am speaking as a primary school teacher and somebody 
who went through the system.

Chairman: It is an important question that has not come up.

Ms Clare Griffin: We regard every primary teacher as being fully trained to teach the 
SPHE-RSE programme and have confidence in their competence to do that because they attend 
initial teacher education for three years in the majority of instances, a period that is being in-
creased to four years.  The colleges of education have indicated that the time being allocated to 
specific training in SPHE-RSE has actually increased across the four-year period because of the 
overall time increase.  We regard that as good provision at the initial teacher education stage.  
We recognise that this is a challenging area.  There is no doubt about that.  Many teachers report 
that it is challenging.  We are told that some 62% find this area challenging and that 12% find it 
very challenging and so training does not begin and end at initial teacher education stage.  It is 
really important that teachers receive good quality continuous professional development, CPD, 
throughout their careers, and this is provided.  From June 2014 to June 2017, some 3,135 teach-
ers availed of CPD, which is a very high number for us to be able to stand over.  The seminars, 
which were delivered by the professional development service for teachers, PDST, focused 
specifically on sex education and other elements of the relationships and sexuality in education, 
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RSE, programme from senior infants to sixth class.  It is important that schools have in place an 
RSE policy that is clear, implemented and monitored.  The 3,135 teachers mentioned will have 
benefited from that type of input very recently in their careers.

The seminars also focused on the particular methodologies for teaching RSE that we regard 
as being important, these being methodologies that allow for discussion with students and allow 
them to engage with the issues at a level that is relevant to their own lives and also generate a 
safe classroom environment at primary level.  A lot has happened in this space.  We have refer-
enced a number of times the amount of resources that are available online.  These are up-to-date 
resources such that what students are accessing online gives them a good grounding in how to 
address specific issues.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: I accept that very good work has been and is being done.  
Am I correct that continuous professional development is voluntary? 

Ms Clare Griffin: Yes.

Deputy Hildegarde Naughton: In other words, teachers opt in to it, which is precisely the 
issue because not every teacher is engaging.  We need to do much more work in this area.  I ac-
cept that there have been improvements but, as I said, there is much more to be done in relation 
to sex education and not, by the way, only for our young people, but right across the board.  We 
heard from medical people over the past couple of weeks about the lack of knowledge around 
contraception, sexually transmitted diseases, relationship awareness, pornography, and so on.  
Regardless of what issue we are talking about, education is key.  As a former teacher, I am very 
aware that almost every issue will come back to education.  We really need to get this right in 
the primary school setting.  

In regard to the opt-in to continuous professional development, it may be ten, 15 or 20 years 
since teachers left training college and as such we need to be doing more around this issue.  I 
accept that the witnesses cannot answer on that issue today, but it is nevertheless important to 
make that point.

Chairman: That is a really good point to end on.  Our approach to CPD needs to be re-
freshed when it comes to teachers on this topic in particular.  Deputy Naughton has again high-
lighted the need for consideration of this issue by other committees when we have concluded 
our work on it.

I thank all of the witnesses for attending today’s meeting.  We really appreciate their time 
and effort in answering members’ questions. 

The joint committee adjourned at 6.05 p.m. until 3 p.m. on Thursday, 30 November 2017.


